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DAY 4 OF INQUIRY RESUMES ON 10 AUGUST 2017 AT 10.26 AM
JUSTICE STEVENS:
Good morning, Mr Chuah.

MR CHUAH:
Good morning. 

JUSTICE STEVENS:
Mr Gedye, I understand you have asked Mr Chuah, the Director‑General of Health to attend?

MR GEDYE:
Yes, that’s correct, Sir, and I propose to now call his evidence.

JUSTICE STEVENS:
Yes, very good.  I am going to ask in a moment that he be sworn but before doing so, first of all, might I welcome you, Mr Chuah, to the Inquiry.  We appreciate your making yourself available because we do understand that you are busy and have other commitments in your role as Director‑General but as you will be aware, the issues that we are considering are extremely important, not only to the residents of Havelock North and Hastings, but also to all New Zealanders.  One of the terms of reference for the Inquiry requires us to examine how to prevent the type of outbreak that occurred here from ever occurring in the future, either in Havelock North and Hastings or in other parts of New Zealand and so given your responsibility for the health of all New Zealanders, it was important that you attend to assist us with our investigations.  So that was just to give you a little context for why we are pleased to see you.  Yes, Madam Registrar, would you swear the witness? 

chai chuah (SWORN)

mr Gedye addresses Mr Chuah

Q. Good morning, Mr Chuah.

A. Morning.

Q. The questions I want to ask you will relate to your perspective as Director‑General.  It's not my plan to get into any matters of detail that you are unlikely to be able to answer but we'll take that as it comes.  I want to ask you first about the Ministry of Health role in drinking water generally.  Do you agree that the Ministry of Health’s role is to oversee the regulatory regime for drinking water in New Zealand?

A. I do.

Q. In carrying out that role, does the Ministry of Health research and prepare and publish a large number of guidelines and reports?

A. We do.

Q. In the witness box there in a folder there should be a number of documents which I'll refer you to.  The first one under tab 1.

A. Thank you.

Q. Should be a list of reports.

JUSTICE STEVENS ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. Do you have that, Mr Chuah?

A. I do.

MR GEDYE ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. Without speaking about any particular guideline or report, do you recognise that as the suite of reports which the Ministry of Health prepares?

A. I recognise the headings.  I have to admit I haven't read every single one of them.

Q. Of course.  And there's 32 reports there.  I understand there may be up to 39 reports produced by the Ministry of Health in relation to drinking water.  Would you accept that?

A. Accept.

Q. And does the Ministry also publish updates to those from time to time?

A. We do.

Q. In publishing all of those numerous guides, do you accept that the Ministry assumes the responsibility for advising the drinking water industry of best practices?

A. We do.

Q. If we can look at your role in particular, but the Ministry’s in general, could we start with the very general duty which you have under the Health Act under section 3A, which is that the Ministry shall have the function of improving, promoting and protecting public health.  You'd accept that’s the fundamental duty?

A. I do.

Q. And you as Director-General are the head of the organisation which must promote those goals?

A. Yes, your right.

Q. And so the drinking water regime within the Ministry should also achieve those goals?  Would you agree?

A. Agree.

Q. Putting it simply, would you accept that public safety and public health are the absolute reasons for the Ministry to exist and underlie everything it does?

A. Public health is one of the most important things that we do.

Q. Yes.  Just looking at some of the particular powers you have, and I'll just deal with this broadly, under section 69J, the Director-General must maintain a register of drinking water suppliers.  Do you accept that?

A. I accept.

Q. Another function is to advise the Minister on the Drinking Water Standards?

A. Accept.

Q. And the Minister publishes those on your advice?

A. Yes.

Q. Another responsibility is to prepare and publish an annual report on compliance each year?

A. That’s correct.

Q. And you contract the ESR to prepare that, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Another responsibility relates to Drinking Water Assessors.  Do you accept the Director-General appoints Drinking Water Assessors?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. The legislation permits you to set any terms and conditions you consider appropriate when appointing DWAs, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. The Ministry also issues guidance on enforcement matters?

A. Correct.

Q. Just reverting to the DWAs, there's a specific section, section 69ZM, which provides that Drinking Water Assessors are accountable to the Director-General, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Another area of statutory responsibility is laboratories where the Director-General has a responsibility to register and recognise laboratories.  Do you accept that?

A. Yes.

Q. And an example of the particular powers you have there are in section 69ZY subsection (3), which says that laboratories may be recognised on whatever terms and conditions the Director-General considers appropriate, including, and without limitation, terms enabling you to suspend or withdraw recognition in any circumstances.  So that’s a pretty broad power isn't it?

A. Correct.

Q. Do you recall ever exercising that power to set specific terms and conditions for laboratories?

A. Not that I can recall.

Q. But can I take it that if you saw a need in the interests of public health to do so, that you'd be prepared to do so?

A. Absolutely.

Q. Another area of responsibility is Water Safety Plans.  Do you accept that the legislation gives a specific power to prescribe requirements for a Water Safety Plan?  I'm talking about section 69Z.

A. I do.

Q. Yes.  And again, if you saw a need in the interests of public safety to issue some requirements about Water Safety Plans, would you be prepared to do that in principle?

A. Yes.

Q. So looking at those provisions, I take it you'd accept that you and the Ministry have key powers in relation to DWAs, laboratories, Water Safety Plans and reporting?

A. Correct.

Q. Would you accept the Ministry of Health has an important and central role in the drinking water regime?

A. We do.

Q. Would you accept also that as a Ministry of the Crown your Ministry has the standing and status to be influential in drinking water matters quite apart from the statutory powers?

A. We do.

Q. You'd accept the industry looks to you as a leader?

A. Yes.

Q. And a guide if you like?

A. Yes.

Q. Would you accept that a leadership role by a Ministry such as yours should exercise that leadership in terms of publishing guides and templates and other reports?

A. Yes.

Q. And you do do that don’t you?

A. Correct.

Q. Do you accept another aspect of leadership would be to maintain a good level of knowledge and expertise in the drinking water field?

A. We do.

Q. Is another aspect of leadership maintaining good links with the industry?

A. Yes.

Q. Would you accept that you should also maintain links with international bodies and keep abreast of international practice?

A. We do yes.

Q. Would you accept another aspect of leadership is identifying areas for improvement or change?

A. Yes we do.

Q. And would you accept it's part of that leadership to help bring about change?

A. Yes.

Q. There's been much discussion of the fragmentation of the water regime with district councils, regional councils, DHBs, laboratories, do you see a necessary part of leadership as promoting collaboration between all these agencies?

A. We do.

Q. And even though the Ministry may contract out many aspects of the statutory requirements of District Health Boards I take it you'd accept that any statutory responsibility placed on your shoulders does rest with you whether or not you contract out the services?

A. I do.

Q. And that means that you would need to monitor and supervise the contractual performance of those responsibilities in an adequate sort of way, do you accept that?

A. Yes.

Q. The Hawke's Bay District Health Board has embraced the Inquiry process and taken ownership of a lot of the issues, can I ask what the Ministry’s done to support the District Health Board and its officers in the Inquiry process?

A. We have made sure that we have made all available staff from not just the public health teams but also in the broader Ministry to support the Hawke's Bay District Health Boards and I have spoken to the Chief Executive and actually said to him that if he needs any extra resources he should ring me, if he finds that there's any difficulty getting support from the Ministry and to date I haven't had that phone call.

Q. That’s Dr Snee you refer to is it?

A. Dr Kevin Snee yep.

Q. Do you have a good working relationship with him?

A. I do.

Q. I'd like to ask you about the current state of drinking water in New Zealand, how would you describe the current state of affairs with drinking water in New Zealand in terms of compliance in general safety levels?

A. I think the current environment is, we have a statutory and a policy regime that works on a number of actors taking different responsibilities and roles in the community and I think what this incident has demonstrated is that for that system to work, one, there needs to be a high level of communication and engagement in collaboration.  I think the second point my observation of the is the current regime it is timely pending the recommendation of the Inquiry for us to look at the context under which we operate and I suspect that, you know, given some of the lessons that we will learn from this there will be things for us to look at in terms of any recommendations that will flow from this that we will take, that we can act on immediately.  But secondly, is there any policy or statutory elements that we might want to consider to take back to Government.

Q. I’ll come back to some of those concepts but at the moment can I just ask you about compliance levels and some of the statistics about drinking water, do you regard them as satisfactory or not?

A. I'm aware that we publish every year around the drinking water suppliers who are yet to meet compliance and I think that in the evidence and the submissions you have had and witness from ourself has been the preferred approach of the Ministry of Health is to actually identify, work with and support the drinking water suppliers who have yet to meet compliance and as the very last resort then use enforcement.

Q. I'd like to take you to some of the figures if I may.  Are you familiar with a paper, an issues paper on issue 3 of the Inquiry about drinking water safety and compliance levels in New Zealand, I don’t think you have that, Mr Registrar could you hand that to the witness.

WITNESS REFERRED TO document

Q. This is a fact paper which is on the Inquiry website and has been distributed to the parties.  I'm not going to take you through this in detail Mr Chuah, I don’t mean to spring it on you in that sense.  But if you look at the bottom of the first page do you see a table of, with the essential numbers for drinking water suppliers from 2009 through to the most recent annual report of 2015/16?

A. Yeah.

And on page 2 do you see at the bottom second column from the right that the overall compliance level is only 80%?

A. Yeah.

Q. Under that I’d just like to read a paragraph and get your reaction to it if I may.  “From the above it can be seen that although the compliance timetable was established in 2007 and extended in 2009 there are still 759,000 people which is 20% of the service population supplied by suppliers where the water was not demonstrably safe to drink.  Of these 92,000 are at risk of bacterial infection, 681,000 at risk of Protozoal infection and 59,000 at risk from the long-terms of exposure to chemical.”  Mr Chuah do those figures trouble you?

A. I think if you were living in those community you will find that unacceptable and I agree that that’s very troubling to read.

Q. Have you read this issues paper before today?

A. No.

Q. It hasn’t been drawn to your attention?

A. It has been drawn to my attention not in terms of this specific report that we do have got drinking water suppliers that have yet to achieve compliance.

Q. Were you aware that the number of people exposed to non-compliant water was as high as nearly 760,000 people?

A. I'm not aware of that specific number no.

Q. These figures are taken from the annual report published by the Ministry so presumably there should be no issue with the figures because they're taken from your own report.  If you look at the next paragraph this talks about improvement rates.  It says, “There's been a very gradual improvement in the overall compliance of only 3.7% in the last seven years,” and it breaks down the different categories and then it says, “Although direct comparison with earlier years is not possible as both standards in the questionnaire used to assess compliance have changed.  In the 2005 calendar year the overall compliance rate was 80% and today it's 80% and this suggests in the period ’05 to ’16 no progress at all has been made in compliance with the relevant standards.”  If you can just assume those figures are correct does the lack of improvement over time bother you?

A. Yes it does.

Q. Are you motivated to address the question of improving compliance much more quickly?

A. Oh, I think there's no question about that.  I think what some of the – your preliminary findings in your phase 1 has clearly indicated that there is a number of things that the Ministry should actually expedite and this would be one of those.

Q. Is it – do you think it's particularly concerning that these figures are over a nearly a 10 year period from ’07 to the present time and that there's, even after all that period there's still a very high rate of non-compliance, do you find that troubling?

A. Yes and clearly I think that in a – with the lack of progress in this we, one of the things we will have to re-examine is around our approach around trying to support the drinking water suppliers in terms of reaching compliance and we will actually need to address the issues around why some of them are not making the progress that we would like.

Q. If you look down page 2, there's a table of large supplies where you'll see compliance rates of typically late 80 percents.  Then the next page is medium supplies where the compliance rate is much lower, between about 43% and 65% and then a further table for minor supplies, 501 and to 5000 people, where the compliance rates are down in the 30s and 40s and then you see the small supplies where the compliance rates are as low as 16 and rising to about 25%.  Those table show a particular problem with the smaller supplies?  Would you accept that the compliance rates of 16 to 20% are really very woeful and worrying?

A. Yeah, I think what those tables you are referring to shows the trend is that the smaller the suppliers, the greater difficulty that they have to achieving of compliance.  I think that what we need to look at is around why they are having that difficulty and there could be a number of reasons and I think that what we will be wanting to look at is what further things can the Ministry do to support them to actually lift the compliance.  Now, the small suppliers clearly have got issues around the size and I suspect until achieving compliance they will be other sorts of support they may need.

Q. I would say though, and I ask your comment, it's not only limited to small supplies because even medium supplies, which is five to 10,000 people, in many cases, quite a number of cases are less than 50% and that really is a terrible rate of compliance isn't it?

A. So one of the things we did look at, actually is that if you look at the higher rates of compliance for the large supplies and it starts to drop quite quickly when you get to the medium and the minor and the small supplies, we'll probably need to look at, you know, is there a tipping point within which those suppliers need further support in addition to what's available now.  If we're going to achieve a much, and we must achieve the higher compliance rate –

MR WILSON ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. Mr Chuah, it is also fair to state in fact that the population numbers shown for the small suppliers can be chronically understated.  I mean there are a number of examples.  I will give you one.  A small supplier at Punakaiki on the West Coast of the South Island, has 270 residents.

A. Yeah.

Q. Yet there are 500,000 tourists that go through that community.  So the population numbers understate the users, would you agree?

A. I agree and I think when we look at addressing this particular issue, I think the point you're raising is we need to look at who uses the water apart from just the residents.

MR GEDYE ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. I suppose it's worth observing that we shouldn't lose sight of the large supplies because numerically that’s where the most people are effected even though the compliance rates might be 85% or 88%, there's a lot more people overall effected.  So would you agree that the large supplies certainly need attention as well?

A. Look, certainly I think that what this Inquiry will raise for us is as you look right across the spectrum, and I think that we will be looking at making sure that we don’t adopt a one-size-fits-all approach, so all the drinking water suppliers will want to understand the uniqueness of each of the categories of suppliers and as you look at what can we possibly do as quickly as possible within the current statutory policy regime.

Q. Just to place a little context, if you go right to the end of this issue paper, the last two or three pages, there's a page with a heading, “Bacteriological Compliance England and Wales,” at the bottom.

A. Yeah.

Q. Where the figures we've been given say in the five years 2011 to 2015, all categories for all areas in England and Wales have bacteriological compliance had greater than 99.99% compliance.  Would you accept that indicates that almost complete compliance is feasible in a system that’s operating ideally?

A. I think that’s the benchmark we should set for ourselves.

Q. Complete compliance, yes.  And equally that’s bacteriological.  Equally in relation to protozoal compliance on the very last page, there's a statement in England, Wales and Scotland, there are virtually no non‑compliances with the cryptosporidium regulations and again that seems to be pretty much 100% compliant, would you agree?

A. Yeah look I agree and I think that we probably need to actually talk to our colleagues in England and Wales around how did they get that.

Q. Yes.  A matter I want to come to quite a lot later is the idea of an expert panel, set up by the Ministry of Health and I’ll develop that idea but if you had an expert panel set up to help you drive change would you agree that’s the sort of thing that an international expert could advise you on, how they got such excellent compliance levels in the UK?

A. I think we would welcome such an expert panel, I think one of the things we would like the expert panel to consider is the uniqueness of the New Zealand cultural environmental context.

Q. Yes of course.  Can I just take you briefly to the annual report, the latest annual report, Mr Registrar can you give a copy to Mr Chuah.  This is the Ministry’s –

Justice Stevens:

Finished with the issues paper 3?

MR GEDYE:
I have thank you Sir.
Mr Gedye addresses Mr Chuah:

Q. This is the Ministry’s annual report on drinking water quality 2015/2016.  Are you familiar with this report?

A. Yep I've seen the report.  

Q. I just want to go to a couple of examples which might illustrate even more graphically the sort of concerns the Inquiry has, could you go to page 44 and do you see at the top the entry for the Tasman District?

A. Yeah.

Q. And I'm just putting this to you Mr Chuah as an example of seriously non-compliant water supply.  If you look at the Protozoa column with the exception of Appleby Hills there is no other compliance, every other one of about 20, 21 suppliers is simply non-compliant.  Would you accept that’s a really unacceptable situation in Tasman?

A. Yes.

Q. It may be that those fails are because the water supplier’s simply not taking Protozoa samples or doing Protozoa testing.  If that were the case would you accept that’s relatively easy to address, that you just have to make them do the Protozoa sampling?

A. Look I have no idea what the drive is for the non-compliance, that was a supposition you put to me for me to have a theory on I don’t know the reason why.

Q. But if you had a supplier that simply wasn't taking samples that’s something you would want to address pretty firmly isn't it?

A. Obviously there are basic and simple steps that the drinking water suppliers are not taking and it's a simple thing around compliant, this was the, that’s the sort of thing that we would want to act on quite quickly.

Justice Stevens ADDRESSES Mr Chuah:
Q. And you can act on it?

A. Absolutely, yeah absolutely.

Q. It's just matter of requiring the Drinking Water Assessor or the Medical Officer of Health or even the Ministry writing a letter?

A. We will really want to understand and one of the learnings from this Inquiry would be to really understand the reason for the non-compliance and if it is some simple things that should be done now and it's something that we can actually write to and get them to comply it's something we can do immediately.

Mr Gedye addresses Mr Chuah:

Q. And I think under the legislation it's often a Medical Officer of Health who has the direct power to enforce and do something, are you saying that the Ministry, as a way of exercising leadership would issue policy guidelines to Medical Officers of Health about what is expected and required in this regard?

A. Yeah I think the one of the things we will look at quite closely following this Inquiry would be around the clarity of our requirements from the Public Health Units run by the DHBs around their, what falloffs and actions are they doing on issues like this.

Q. Just looking at Tasman the bacteriological compliance is not too hot either, there's quite a few crosses in that column, you see that as well?

A. Yep.

Q. That would suggest there's a supply that needs some attention fairly quickly, wouldn't you agree?

A. (no audible answer 10:54:46).

Q. Also just while we’re on this report at page 41 and given that we’re dealing with Hawke's Bay water I’ll just draw your attention Mr Chuah to the supplies in Hawke's Bay including if you treat Wairoa District as Northern Hawke's Bay you see there's one supply with neither bacteriological or Protozoa compliance, if you look at, if you looked at Napier City for this year you'd see non-compliance with bacteriological but this is the year before.  If you look at Hastings District you’ll see a whole spray of crosses in both bacteria and Protozoa, do you see that?

A. Yeah.

Q. And in Central Hawke's Bay District happily there's only one supply that complies with the Protozoa requirements and there's also a cross in the bacteria as well as Protozoa for one of those supplies.  Do the number of crosses across page 41 trouble you Mr Chuah, in the Hawke's Bay area?

A. This is very trouble me intensement, of course I do. 

Q. Do you feel a strong urge to improve these and get rid of these crosses if at all possible?

A. Oh, absolutely, as I said earlier as with Tasman we will clearly look not just at Hastings and Havelock North, we will look right across the country in terms of what is possible and what can be acted now.  

Q. Dr Fricker, independent expert advising the Inquiry yesterday, gave evidence that the compliance rates in New Zealand are some 10 times worse than the UK, it's just another way I would suggest of indicating the scale of the problem, there's a 10 times worse figure suggest to you that there's a large scale problem in New Zealand?

A. I think what is suggested is that, you know, we have a benchmark to look towards in terms of England and Wales and your earlier point around needing to get some external input and advice around how we might actually achieve that is something that we can act on quite quickly.  But I would also add that I would like to understand in terms of the journey that England and Wales have travelled through to actually achieve those level of compliance.

Q. Yes and that will bring in other things like a water regulator and dedicated water supply entities which are outside the scope of what I –

A. Correct.

Q. Although they're all matters which would be very interesting to get the Ministry of Health’s input on?

A. And then one of the things that will come out from this sort of stuff is we will really look at all those recommendations come out and there may be things as you say that we will need to consider to make this thing work that’s outside of the current terms of reference of the Inquiry that for the recommendations to work we have to consider all them as a whole.

Q. Can I just discuss with you Mr Chuah the question of untreated water.  It seems to me an important risk difference between the New Zealand and the UK is that we have some large untreated supplies, are you aware of that?

A. Yes.

Q. And are those untreated supplies a matter of particular concern to you?

A. Look untreated waters, water suppliers that are not compliant are all concerned to me, I think, you know, my opinion and attitude to this is that we have to look at actually how we actually make faster progress into getting compliance.  You know we had to work with the communities and the local drinking water suppliers into how we get there faster.

Q. Can I ask whether you’ve been briefed on the Napier water supply in particular in recent times?

A. Not in specifics.

Q. Napier has a supply of about 50,000 people and until recently it was untreated water, are you aware of that?

A. I'm not specifically no.

Q. This year, since February this year there have been five E. coli results in Napier and is currently being treated with chlorine.  I take it that’s a step that you'd agree with, treating it with chlorine.

A. Mhm.

Justice Stevens:

 We need to talk because it's being recorded Mr Chuah thank you.

Mr Gedye ADDRESSES Mr Chuah:

Q. The Inquiry has had some evidence that Napier City Council appears to be reluctant to treat and quite vocal in its determination to stop chlorination, is that something that concerns you given the E. coli results?

A. I think that’s something that would definitely concern me and I think what we will be looking to in terms of how the local Public Health Unit is engaging with the local drinking water suppliers and, you know, it certainly they raised that as an issue for us that they are unable to make progress certainly the Ministry will be assisting.

Q. Well it does seem an area where strong leadership would be beneficial, do you agree?

A. Correct.

Q. I had also mentioned Christchurch where there's a supply, I think, of 255,000 people with untreated water.  One expert giving evidence to the Inquiry has likened that to driving down the motorway without a seatbelt.  Is that an analogy that you would accept?

A. Highly emotive, but yes.

Q. Another issue of concern to the Inquiry is the sporadic or endemic burden.  That is waterborne gastrointestinal illness that doesn’t result in an outbreak but just occurs more or less continuously in small numbers often undetected.  On that topic, can I get you to look at one of those documents in the folder under tab 2.  Mr Chuah, this is an excerpt from the Ministry’s own Guidelines for drinking water document.  Are you familiar with that document?

A. I have not read this document.

Q. No.  It's a companion to the Drinking Water Standards which gives guidelines how to implement them and I just wanted to draw your attention to this Ministry Guideline at page 4 under chapter 1.1.3, which says, “Untreated or inadequately treated drinking water contaminated with pathogens presents a significant risk to human health.  In New Zealand the overall burden of endemic drinking waterborne gastrointestinal disease has been estimated at 18 to 34,000 cases per year.”  If you take that estimate as correct, would you agree that’s a very sobering number of people being made sick each year by waterborne pathogens?

A. Yes.

Q. And the Inquiry has also had evidence that number is likely to be very much on the low side because people frequently don’t go to the doctor or report GI illness and it just comes and goes and people don’t – there's no way of recording or capturing that.  Does that sound probable to you?

A. Probable.

Q. One expert thought it could be as high as 100,000 cases a year but whether it's 100 or 34,000 cases, would you accept that endemic disease and sporadic disease is a serious problem in its own right in addition to the possibility of outbreaks?

A. Yes.

Q. That heavy burden, as it's been called, has been recognised in this Ministry Guideline for a long time.  If I were to suggest to you that the time has come to do something more effective about it, would you be sympathetic to that?

A. Totally.

Q. There can be few areas of the Ministry’s work where 30,40, 50, 60 or 100,000 people are being made sick every year and that that is being allowed to continue without serious steps to address it.  Would that be right?

A. I think the numbers are alarming and worrying and unacceptable.  I think that what we will be looking at from this Inquiry is, like I said earlier, well, can we actually speed up within the current statute and policy regime.  I am aware that there are, you know, funds set aside to improve drinking water in various communities and, you know, the Government is looking at how we support the local communities actually implementing those and that will be part of some of the immediate steps we could look at but it requires strong leadership from the Ministry, working and respecting how the community would like to advance the issue as well.

Q. So accepting the community views must be considered, would you accept ultimately on matters of public health and safety, that scientific and medical evidence must prevail over the communities’ views on occasion?

A. I think we must present it to them.  Ideally if the scientific evidence is compelling and the leadership and communication of the Ministry is compelling, we should be able to take the community along.  I think part of the challenge for small communities is they have other issues they need to deal with and when we come along and actually want to assist them to improve drinking water, we have to present the evidence in a way that we can actually work with.

Q. One other document, if I may, Mr Chuah, is at tab 6 and it's a table of press or media reports on drinking water problems. I just want to put this to you because it's another way of viewing the matter and perhaps a little more impactive than bare statistics.  I'm only asking you to flick through this but do you see that it shows from a year ago, after the Havelock North outbreak from the 23rd of August, there was a problem at Haumoana School here in Hawke’s Bay with positive E. coli and that if you flick through the table, on every month in September, October, November 2016, then into January to April 2017, January, February, March, April and May 2017, there's this continuous stream of media reports about boil water notices, bacteriological contamination, problems at schools.  Now, accepting that’s not scientific and it's only a snapshot, that would also suggest, would it not, that there's an awful lot of drinking water problems even in the last year up and down New Zealand?  Would you accept that?

A. That is a source that we look at but that is not the only source we look at in terms of the drinking water problem.  I think the Ministry working with the DHBs probably helping.  It has excellent intelligence network.

Q. Yes.

A. With ESR in terms of actually what is false and what is true.

Q. And does that DHB network also confirm that there's a lot of boil water notices and a lot of E. coli results happening up and down New Zealand?

A. Maybe there will be, yeah.

Q. Yeah.  In terms of tackling this problem, you have a director of public health don’t you?

A. Yes, Dr Caroline McElnay.

Q. Yes, and that’s established under the Health Act and under sections 3B and 3D, there's an interestingly powerful responsibility on that director of public health who may report directly to you, is that correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And also to the Minister if necessary?

A. Correct.

Q. So can you just explain how this director of public health role works in terms of drinking water?  Is this officer able to address the drinking water problems in her position with these statutory powers?

A. She has the authority, delegated from me, to actually exercise directions and instructions to any entity where in her view that it's necessary for the powers to be exercised and I have complete confidence and trust in our current director of public health.

Q. And if the director of public health wanted to take some initiatives to improve the drinking water system, can I take it that she’d have your full support?

A. Absolutely.  She is my specialist advisor on this issue.

Q. Does that direct report actually work in practice?  Do you and she have a direct line of reporting routinely?

A. Well, she's in the audience I think.  She talks regularly with me on a number of issues and I have her number on my phone.

Q. So she comes to you and says, “We should be doing this, this and this,” that will work in a direct way will it?

A. Absolutely.

Q. The Inquiry heard from Dr McElnay yesterday and probably impertinent of me to comment but my own impression is that she's highly competent, highly skilled and well experienced in drinking water matters.  Would that be right?

A. That would be my view.

JUSTICE STEVENS ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. And she has also been through the events that occurred in Hastings and Havelock North last year?

A. Correct.

Q. So she has got on the ground experience has she not?

A. And I think prior to her coming to the Ministry, I think she worked in this area.

Q. Yes, she did.

MR GEDYE ADDRESSES MR CHUAH: 

Q. Well, it was my observation that Dr McElnay was an outstanding asset for the Ministry to use to look at change.  Is that a view you would share?

A. Absolutely. 

Q. It is my understanding as well that she has the respect of the industry.  Is that your understanding?

A. Yes.

Q. The organisational charts we were given yesterday by the Ministry don’t actually show a direct report from her to you, but if you drew up an accurate chart it would show a line, wouldn't it, from her to you?

A. Well, you know, it's very difficult to show on a rigid box and lines around the reporting line, but I have a number of statutory officers who does not appear on organisational chart that have direct contact with me and Director of Public Health is one, Director of Mental Health is the other and I talk regularly with those officers and there is no inhibition in terms of actually having to actually go past any other managers to talk to me directly. 

Q. Right.  Can I just ask you about the Stage 1 report from the Inquiry.  There is a copy of it in the witness box, this blue bound document. 

WITNESS REFERRED TO Stage 1 report

Q. Mr Chuah have you read the report?

A. I have your key findings in terms, I think there were 14, I think a number of though refers directly to Drinking Water Assessors.  

Q. Would I be right that other officers in the drinking water section would have read it fully?

A. That would be my assumption. 

Q. And have you read those key findings only recently or did you read them in May when the report came out?

A. I have read them through when they came out and then read them again this morning. 

Q. You would have noted in that report a series of criticisms of the DWAs and the DWA system in Hawke's Bay, correct?

A. Yeah, I think there was two or three findings that referred to that.

Q. If you – or just perhaps have a look at paragraph 422, for example, 422 and onwards.  The Inquiry found that there were inadequate resources available to the DWAs.  Since that finding came out in May, can I ask what the Ministry has done about that, if anything?

A. Well, the first thing is that I am not aware and this has not been brought to my attention direct, is that there was a lack of resource issue, but I think certainly having read this I think that the Ministry is working on the different Public Health Units across the country to actually ascertain whether or not there is actually a shortage issue or inability to recruit issue.

Q. The Stage 1 report also recorded that there was an issue with the Ministry’s soft approach or policy of soft approach to enforcement.  Did you note that at the time in May in the report?

A. I note that, yes. 

Q. The Stage 1 report also recorded problems with the preparation and review and implementation with Water Safety Plans, did you note that at the time?

A. I note that. 

Q. Well, would you accept that the Stage 1 report issued in May clearly signalled a number of areas requiring change?

A. I accept that.

JUSTICE STEVENS ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. Could I just get your view as to the seriousness of these faults and failures?  Just looking at paragraphs 418 to 481 – 418 to 481, that is the section that deals with drinking water assessors which are officers within – critical officers within the system.

A. Yes.

Q. Now were you troubled by those findings?

A. Yes, I think it clearly indicates that we have to really look at not just our training, but also our recruitment and ongoing support of the Drinking Water Assessors, recourse is to actually step all our monitoring around your key findings and how do we support them better into the executing the work.  Because all Drinking Water Assessors have to be in the first instance public health officers.

Q. Of course, yes.

A. All right and they have got the basic training.  So I would be and I know that my team has already started looking in this issue in terms of what further things can we be doing now in terms of supporting DWAs.

Q. Thank you. 

MR WILSON ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. Mr Chuah, I am interested in your statement that all DWAs have to be health protection officers.  I understand that that’s a policy that has been introduced by the Ministry implicitly yourself rather than – that that’s the reason for that statement, is that correct?

A. Well, that has been longstanding long before I arrived.  

Q. Yes.  We heard – you weren't here, but we heard evidence from international experts in both Australia and UK earlier in the week that that, in fact, is not the norm in those jurisdictions.  That the norm in those jurisdictions is that often a team of people with a range of different skills, health protection offices, experienced water supply engineers and operators, experienced water scientists, microbiologists, have proven to be more effective as regulators than health protection officers of themselves.  Do you have a – clearly you hadn’t heard that evidence, but on reflection, do you have a view on that?

A. Look, I think they’re operating within the current regime, the current policy setting and obviously there are international experts that offer alternative way of how we maybe look at those things.  I think that we will seriously consider all those new options. 

Q. Because when you say “within those current policy settings,” I understand that is entirely within your determination to change those.  Those are not policy settings set by regulation or by Parliament, they are for you to change should you determine it is appropriate to do so.

A. Correct, yeah, yeah.  And in deciding to change, I will need to actually consider those advice. 

MR GEDYE ADDRESSES MR CHUAH: 

We’ll come back to the HPO requirement later, I think.  Mr Chuah –

JUSTICE STEVENS ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. But is, I think, the fair – the point to take from Mr Wilson’s questions is that it is a topic that is of considerable interest to the inquiry and very much front of mind in terms of an area where prompt action might be appropriate.

A. I am not philosophical over current position, all I’m saying is that, you know, where, you know, there is good advice or an alternative that works better and certainly within the powers that I have, we will actively pursue that.
DR POUTASI:
And just to climb in there, I think we are particularly interested given the evidence that we have received about shortage of Drinking Water Assessors, so our view is anything that can be done that is effective to be able to spread the load or get more people in may well be helpful, but Mr Gedye has already signalled that we will come back to it.

MR GEDYE: 

Yes, I might explore that a little bit in its own right a bit further on.  

JUSTICE STEVENS:

Thank you, Mr Gedye. 

MR GEDYE ADDRESSES MR CHUAH: 
Q. Mr Chuah, could you look at tab 3 of the documents there.  I want to ask you about the Ministry’s submissions to the Inquiry.  Tab 3 should contain some pages from the transcript of the Inquiry hearing in June and I will just take you through some of these briefly.  The page numbers at the top, page 134, and these should be highlighted on your page.  Justice Stevens as the chair of the Inquiry spoke about submissions for next time, that is this hearing, and said, “The reason we mention it now is that this is a unique opportunity to contribute to a regime that might be better for all concerned.”  And the answer to that spoke about “getting clarity from the Ministry of Health on what we are supposed to do and that we’re funded from it, this is an area where there is a lack of clarity, frankly it works, it's an area where it's critical that you do have clear lines of accountability.”  So that’s that entry.  If you flick forward to page 290 –

JUSTICE STEVENS ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. Can I just say it might help you understand the context of this, Mr Chuah, and I want to be entirely fair about this?  We had a three-day hearing in June and it was focused on issues 1 and 2 of the issues list for Stage 2 and we do not need to go into the reasons why but there was no official from the Ministry of Health here.  There were two counsel from Crown Law representing all Ministries and including Health but there was no official here to hear critical evidence that we had that came forward.  So that is the context.

A. Okay.

MR GEDYE ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. Just taking you to page 290, Mr Chuah, half-way down, the chair addressed counsel, “Mr Wilson rightly raised the question of the Ministry.  What planning is being done and is there information that can be fed?”  And under that, “I referred to the need to speak with counsel and the Ministry of Health because they actually approve DWAs and have a very big role.”  Skip two pages, at page 292, Dr Poutasi raised the question, “To the best of your knowledge, has the Ministry given any consideration to not requiring the health protection officer qualification the matter we've just spoken of?”  So that was raised.  And at the bottom of 293, the Judge said to counsel for Crown, “All this needs to be pulled together and we are trying to come up with a set of recommendations that are practical, reasonable and implementable.  So it would be really helpful to understand if the Ministry want to maintain that requirement, why and if it could be dispensed with so that the technicians could become Drinking Water Assessors, or it might make the prospect of employing people easier.”  And counsel said, “That’s clear and I've added that to the list of things that I'm going back to the Ministry on.”  And the emphasis had to be results-focused.  At page 398, two thirds of the way down, Justice Stevens, “We're trying to workshop these issues in a positive and constructive way, so that is maybe just something for August and I am sure we will have a representative here.”  And that was answered in the affirmative.  Page 400, half way down, Justice Stevens said, “My learned colleague has just handed me a note that talks about co-design.”  Ms Butler said, “As with all, I'm sure there was a high level of design.  We can confirm the level of design.”  Page 404, at the bottom, the Chair said, “We are keen for the Ministry of Health to take a leadership role and, Ms Arapere, I would be grateful if you could take that back to whoever your people are,” and she said, “Yes, the message was heard loud and clear.  It's been conveyed overnight to the Ministry.  Soon as we're back in Wellington, we'll arrange to meet.”  The Judge said, “The concept of co-design is one that resonates with me, not just Dr Poutasi but also for Mr Wilson and myself.  We have been fortunate to hear from Dr Snee and Dr Jones but rhetorically, where are the Ministry officials and they will be here in August.”  I just want to ask you a few things, Mr Chuah.  Was all of that dialogue communicated to you personally?

A. No.

Q. You would agree that the Inquiry gave very specific requests and indications that it wanted constructive proposals didn’t it?

A. Yes.

Q. The problem is, Mr Chuah, that as the Inquiry reads the submission from the Ministry, there are effectively no proposals at all.  Were you aware of that?

A. Yes.

Q. Can I just give you a couple of examples?  For example, on the secure rating, you'll be familiar that the Drinking Water Standards provide for a secure classification which, if you comply with that, means you don’t have to treat the water.  The Inquiry proposed that that secure rating could be abolished.  The Ministry response to that is simply to say that the secure rating is acceptable if applied correctly.  And it seemed to the Inquiry that that was a response that did not engage with the issue at all.  Would you accept that?

A. Look, you're talking about things that I wasn’t here, so I'm trying to piece together context in my head.  So –

Q. I suppose the proposition is –

A. I'm struggling with this a little bit.

Q. Yes.

JUSTICE STEVENS ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. Yes, I can see that because, you know, quite frankly, a dialogue like that should have been drawn to your attention should it not?

A. Look, I can't undo what's in the past.

Q. No.

A. I think the important thing is that you’ve asked for me to be here.  I'm here and I think my position would be is that, you know, there are things have come up from your key findings we are looking at actively and I know that my officials here are already starting to act to solve those and if there are further things we can do, and we will.

Q. I think that is really helpful.

A. Yeah.  And that’s my intention.  So if you give me specifics that I have no context, I will struggle to answer.

Q. We are not going to push because if you do not know, even that could be significant in itself.

JUSTICE STEVENS:
Yes, Ms Butler.

MS BUTLER:
Sir, if I may.  If it assists where matters are going to be put Mr Chuah, may I suggest that it may be useful to provide the question and the full answer that was provided in the submission if there's going to be discussion on that point or if inferences are going to be drawn from those comments?

JUSTICE STEVENS:
Of course.  Mr Gedye, I am sure will put the whole context.

MS BUTLER:
Thank you, Sir.

Mr Gedye ADDRESSES THE PANEL (11:26:46) – convenient time

INQUIRY ADJOURNS:
11.26 AM

Inquiry RESUMES:
11.45 am

Mr Gedye addresses Mr Chuah:

Q. Mr Chuah just considering further some of the issues which the Inquiry was interested and had sought proposals about one of the key issues and the big issues was whether all water should be treated.  If I refer to paragraph 16 of the Ministry’s response, “Should all drinking water be treated?”  It says, “This is a matter for future policy consideration if required.”  Would you accept that that is really a non answer from the Ministry of Health on the question of water treatment?

A. I think that what we have to do is actually look at where the best practices around the world and should be informed by that and I think that we will then need to actually look at our current policy setting around what needs to change actually for that part now.  If the evidences and on the recommendation of the Inquiry is that all water should be treated in New Zealand then that’s something that the Ministry has to take into account and actually look at under the current policy setting is it possible to do that.  If we can't we will need to actually take recommendation back to Government to implement those recommendations and that’s what I think what the officials are trying to actually infer by the reply.

Q. Well accepting that any law change will require a policy element would you accept that in terms of just providing a view or a proposal to an Inquiry that Christchurch situation and the Napier situation in particular would have made it very important and useful to say something much more about water treatment and the desirability of it?

A. Yes.

Justice Stevens ADDRESSES Mr Chuah:

Q. I think it's fair to point out to and I'm not expecting you to have read the other submissions but many of them, even from the – some DHBs, from councils, from Joint Working Groups on regional councils we’ve had some fantastic submissions, very comprehensive, very clear and with suggested recommendations and it's, you know, that was the context in which we’re reading the overall response from the Ministry.  

A. So if I can make a statement on that one if I may?

Q. Yes.

A. I think that the Ministry’s role is to be the principal advisor to the Government of the day in terms of any policy changes that might lead to legislation changes and one of the things that the Ministry is likely to be asked is to consider the recommendation from this Inquiry around whether or not further changes should be made to legislation and therefore the current policy.  I think that the Ministry’s officials are trying to get the balance right in terms of not wanting to prejudice advice by actually putting a position forward so therefore create some difficulty around that we already may have preconceived by what those proposals might look like and rather I think what we are trying to take the position is saying what are the people saying, let us consider that as we give advice to the Government today.

Q. Very good and I understand that position but can I just say this, that nevertheless we’ve had this Inquiry, the outbreak, it was a year ago this week?

A. Yeah.

Q. We’ve had a year of investigations; we’ve had a lot of really valuable evidence that’s coming forward.  There are a lot of troubling aspects around the statistics.  There are a lot of troubling aspects around the performance of officials, DWAs in particular in here and we’re very interested in areas where the Ministry can actually do stuff now that doesn’t, nothing to do with policy, it's to do with action, making changes that make the drinking water safer for the public and I take your point completely about preserving the balance and so on but the public still have to be protected in the meantime.

A. Correct.

Mr Gedye ADDRSSES Mr Chuah:

Q. Mr Chuah can I put an example of a matter which I would submit as not requiring policy review but which can be actioned promptly and which is clearly needed and that is the question of sampling and samplers.  I don’t expect you to be across the detail but can I just put it to you that although there's a regime for laboratories there's little or nothing regulating and controlling the training and certification of people who take the samples, people who go out in the field and collect the water and that we’ve had evidence that sampling is every bit as important and risky as every other link in the chain.  So a couple of days ago the Inquiry identified this problem and set up or invited a number of experts to join into a caucus on that issue including Ms Gilbert from your Ministry and possibly Dr McElnay’s looking at it as well.  If that caucus of experts produces recommendations to greatly improve the system for controlling samplers is that something you would support and if the change can be made by you administratively?

A. Absolutely, if the recommendation is made by my advisors, namely Ms Gilbert and Ms McElnay yeah I would actively support that.

Q. Well you can see the sense, can't you, of making sure that people taking samples are properly trained and properly controlled?

Justice Stevens ADDRESSES Mr Chuah:

Q. And accredited if appropriate?

A. Yep.

Mr Gedye ADDRESSES Mr Chuah:

Q. So for example I think I took you earlier to a power by the Director‑General to issue a requirement for a Water Safety Plan, for example, if it could be addressed that way would you be prepared in principal to issue a requirement that all water suppliers use fully trained and accredited samplers?

A. Absolutely.

Q. Would you accept that that’s an easy and very effective way to make a – virtually an immediate improvement to the system for sampling and testing water?

A. I'm not an expert but if my officials tell me that’s an easy and effective way of dealing with it there will be no reason for me to disagree with them.  

Justice Stevens ADDRESSES Mr Chuah:

Q.  And I can perhaps again for context help you that the, what we call the sampling and testing caucus which we set up has done its work.  It was assisted by two international experts, Dr Fricker and Dr Deere, Dr Fricker from England and Dr Deere from Australia who participated with your officials and with IANZ and we’re informed that we will be receiving a set of around 20 recommendations.

A. Sure.

Q. Which as we understand it no law change is needed, no policy required, administrative matter, we can fix it straight away?

A. I would like to wave the magic wand too.

Q. Great that’s a good start.

Mr Gedye ADDRESSES Mr Chuah:

Q. The legislation certainly contemplates that you will have power to address things like that, in my view, Mr Chuah so can the Inquiry take it that you’ve got a real receptiveness to doing that where it's legally possible and appropriate?

A. Yes.

Q. Another area of similar nature is the question of the qualifications for a DWA, a Drinking Water Assessor.  Just very simply the current regime contains a requirement imposed by the Ministry of Health that all Drinking Water Assessors have health protection officer qualification and as Ms Gilbert has said in her evidence this is quite an onerous requirement, you have ongoing competency to be at HPO requires attendance at an appropriate training course at least every three years and there are a number of other qualifications as well.  The Inquiry has also heard evidence that this is impeding recruitment of DWAs and that there's a serious shortage of DWAs.  I will be submitting to the Inquiry that the requirement to be an HPO should be removed because it's a serious impediment to recruitment and because it's not necessary.”  What I want to ask you, Mr Chuah, is whether in principle you're receptive to the idea of dispensing with that requirement if it's having those bad effects?

A. I will need to actually receive the advice from my officials about that.  I can't actually make a decision here and now on the issues.

JUSTICE STEVENS ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. No, no.  I understand.

A. But I think my general approach is I'll be receptive to looking at making changes and that would actually work in a different way so that we don’t have incidents again and if there's deficiencies of the system, including people who work in the system.

Q. Brilliant, thank you.

MR GEDYE ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. The Inquiry’s heard quite a lot of evidence from experts in other jurisdictions saying that the health protection officer qualification is not critical to performing good functions as a Drinking Water Assessor.  If international experts have that view, is that something you'd put weight on?

A. I repeat, I'm not an expert, so I'll actually have to actually listen to the advice of other people apart from the international experts on this.

Q. All right.  Mr Chuah, can I turn to the enforcement policy.  Many submitters to the Inquiry have submitted that there's serious problems with the Ministry of Health enforcement and compliance policy.  Have you had an opportunity to read those submissions?

A. No.

Q. I might just put a couple to you, if I may, to set out what they're saying.  For example, the Canterbury District Health Board has said there needs to be greater national direction in terms of enforcement activities which could begin with the MoH developing a national enforcement strategy.  Compliance orders and other enforcement have been underutilised as their use has not been strongly support by the MoH.  To like effect, a number have made that same submission.  Here's one from the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board.  “The Ministry’s compliance and enforcement policy framework requires DWAs to take a soft approach to discharge of statutory functions.  DWAs should be empowered and supported to take enforcement action where appropriate.”  Auckland Regional Public Health, “The need for MoH to provide a clear direction on the application of the Act and compliance.”  Mid-Central DHB, “A clear enforcement strategy needs to be developed as a framework provided around the use of compliance provisions.  It is important that officers can take appropriate and timely enforcement action in the knowledge that action is supported by the MoH.”  The PSA submission was particularly critical.  “The MoH has failed to produce a national enforcement strategy.  Softly, softly approach is reiterated verbally.  It was influenced by political climate at the time of the 07 amendments but could reasonably expect the approach to have moved on.”

JUSTICE STEVENS ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. That, by the way, was on behalf of the DWAs, not the –

A. The union.

Q. Yes.  But it was representing those statutory officers.

A. Yeah.

MR GEDYE ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. And perhaps just one more to give you a complete flavour, Mr Chuah, the Water New Zealand said, “The Ministry has been reluctant to support DWAs to become involved in enforcement action but has preferred a softer encouraging approach.  The softly, softly compliance approach has not been effective.  Compromised the ability for DWAs to be effective, contributed to inconsistency around the country as no guidance on what softly, softly meant.  Role of designated officers unclear and ineffective.”  There's quite a wave of submissions to that effect.  Now, are you aware of that feeling in the industry that the softly, softly approach is a problem?

A. I've heard of it.

Q. Can I just understand that approach a little better?  Is that an enforcement policy that you signed off on?

A. That’s been longstanding.

Q. Did it pre-date your time?

A. Yeah.

Q. When did you become Director-General, Mr Chuah?
A. March 24 2015.

Q. Yes I think you were acting for a while weren't you?

A. I was acting since November the 9th 2013.

Q. But are you saying the softly, softly policy predated your time?

A. Certainly I didn’t change anything.

Q. But is that an enforcement approach which you supported?

A. Look my stance on this particular issue is that my understanding from the Ministry’s staff is we have the powers to act and enforce and we would support District Health Boards, Public Health Units and Public Health Offices to do the enforcement.  There are a number of steps need to be checked off and declare that all those steps have been exhausted before we do the enforcements.  Now clearly some of the stats that has been presented had indicated that, you know, those approach perhaps need to be relooked at and that you retrace in terms of the balance between still taking a support approach but perhaps taking a more stronger approach or any enforcements, that’s something we will look at.

Q. Dr Fricker told the Inquiry that in the UK there was a strong enforcement policy and people did get prosecuted and that at least in his view this had made, this had contributed greatly to compliance and to effectiveness.  Is that a proposition that you would be receptive to?

A. I'm sure that’s a view that we will have to consider.

Q. Is it your understanding that the softly, softly policy reflected the fact that the 2007 amendments made great changes which a number of suppliers would struggle with for a while and that it was appropriate at that time?

A. I'm not aware of that relationship.

Justice Stevens ADDRESSES Mr Chuah:

Q.  We’ve heard evidence that that was the approach of the Ministry at the time when the then new standards were introduced.  Where was I?  

A. Policy.  

Q. Yes that’s right that the reason for adopting that approach to enforcement was to allow the, that water supplier some space and time to make the changes necessary to embrace the new drinking water standards?

A. Yes.

Q. So what Mr Gedye has put to you is accurate so we could probably take that as a starting point and, Mr Gedye.

Mr Gedye ADDRESSES Mr Chuah:

Q. Yes to the extent that a period of grace was justified would you agree that that period must have long passed because we’re now in 2017, 10 years later?

A. Well regardless of the length of time I think if you look at the data it actually cries out for us to actually look at something different.

Q. Yes.

A. And we will look at something different.

Q. Great.  Well would you agree that those, that issue paper and that annual report full of crosses suggests something’s not working with that approach at the moment because there's such high levels of non‑compliance?

A. We’ll need to actually look at that clearly around, I think some of the conversation earlier was around what is possible to be done right now and we should act on those quickly, this is, those night not actually require much longer timeframe.

Justice Stevens ADDRESSES Mr Chuah:
Q. And I think it's an area where the, both the Drinking Water Assessors and the Medical Officers of Health would benefit from some clear guidance from the Ministry because we’ve, and this, I'm trying to be as helpful as possible for you.  We have heard evidence from persons in those positions who have appeared to be confused about their powers, confused about how strong one should be for a particular issue and of course the paragraphs that I referred you to, 418 to 481 of the report, show a Drinking Water Assessor being totally guided by the softly, softly with quite serious results leading to parties being in breach of standards and non-compliant and that was over a Water Safety Plan.

A. We – I mean, the message is really clear. 

Q. Brilliant.

A. There needs to be a clear leadership guidance from the Ministry for the DHBs, the PHUs, the local DWAs in terms of the approach towards enforcement so that is well loud and clear.

Q. Thank you. 

MR GEDYE ADDRESSES MR CHUAH: 

Q. Perhaps just to clear up one matter, we heard some evidence that the policy had in fact changed, but there was a lot of confusion about when and how that was communicated.  Are you aware that the policy has changed?

A. I am not aware of policy change and so yeah.

Q. Well, would you accept that whatever the position about that, it is necessary now to be clear and to communicate in writing to all the Medical Officers of Health and designated officers what the policy is?

A. Agree.

Q. I just want to ask you about the reluctance to prosecute, Mr Chuah, for example, if you had an supplier in an area that just refused to take Protozoa samples, what reason would you see to be soft on that supplier as opposed to taking prosecution steps?  Is there any particular reason to be soft on such a supplier?

A. I haven't had any experience, I have no further any discussion on that, so I have no basis to actually have used it, to make a judgment, I will be purely speculating at this point.

Q. All right.  Are you aware under the Health Act there is another form of enforcement which is a compliance order and that a – I think it's a medical of health can issue a compliance order requiring a supplier to comply with requirements.  Is the issuing of a compliance order something that you would be prepared to support in theory, where necessary?

A. Yeah.

Q. Are you aware that there has, since 2007, never been a prosecution and there has never been a compliance order issued?  Is that something you are aware of?

A. That’s not something that I am aware of.

Q. No.

A. But in the figure is true, you say that. 

JUSTICE STEVENS:

Q. It is consistent with the evidence we heard.

A. Yeah, okay.
MR GEDYE ADDRESSES MR CHUAH: 

Q. Well, that would be consistent with a softly, softly approach, wouldn't it, that the industry is not feeling free to prosecute?

A. That could be a supposition, yeah.

Q. Well, if you combine it with the wide-spread non-compliance that would be the likely reason, wouldn't it?

A. Yeah.

Q. The proposition has been put to the Inquiry that human nature being what it is, if there is no effective enforcement then people will push the limits and fail to comply and that you do need effective enforcement to achieve compliance.  That seems to me very logical.  Do you agree with the logic of that?

A. I mean, it's difficult to actually dispute the logic, I guess, and I think in terms of the way we need to actually look in making improvements is to do both and actually to get the balance right. 

Q. Yes, I suppose the proposition would be if you have an enforcement regime which is seen and known to be effective, then in most cases you won't need to take action because it is there.  Would you accept the logic of that?

A. Yes. 

Q. And would you accept that an enforcement policy is something that you can change and promulgate without any legislative steps and no need for regulations or other lengthy process steps?

A. At this moment, I am not aware, but I will take advice on that. 

Q. Yes, of course. 

JUSTICE STEVENS ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. I think what Mr Gedye is really pointing out is that the powers, the statutory powers are there and all that is required is for the relevant Ministry officials and the drinking water team to say, “Look, softly, softly is history and now we will apply a relevant enforcement provisions in accordance with their terms in appropriate cases.”

A. In appropriate cases.

Q. Yes.

A. And I think that, you know, your data shows that there are certain areas where there has been non-compliance over a period of time.  I think that getting – re-looking at that balance around perhaps being more assertive in the compliance.

Q. Brilliant.

A. Would be something to look at. 

Q. Good.

A. Yeah.

Q. Thank you. 

MR GEDYE ADDRESSES MR CHUAH: 
Q. Mr Chuah, you have the Stage 1 report which set out at some length the role of the softly, softly approach in the Hawke's Bay outbreak and you have now or your officials have a fat wad of submissions from DHBs, PSA, Water New Zealand and others complaining in quite trenchant terms about the enforcement policy.  Do you accept this is something that can be looked at quickly and that you don’t need to wait for the Inquiry’s Stage 2 report to come out?

A. Yeah.

Q. All right, can I talk to you about another matter which is the capacity and resources available to the Ministry.  Again, I’d like to put to you some of the submissions.  Canterbury DHB, “MoH’s resources appear stretched and this has an impact on it's staff’s ability to maintain effective links.”  Were you aware of that submission by Canterbury DHB?

A. They don’t regularly share things with us.

Q. Mhm?

A. No.

Q. So would you agree with what they say or not?

A. I have no idea how they formed that view because they have not discussed it with us.

Q. Well, there’s another DHB, the Nelson-Marlborough DHB says that MoH resources are stretched.  The Hawke's Bay DHB says, “The MoH drinking water team appears to be significantly under-resourced and lacks specialist drinking water experience.”  Would you accept that?

A. And again, I have no idea what's the basis of all those comments because they have not discussed it with us. 

Q. The PSA said, “The MoH national oversight and coordination was initially good when there was a strong leadership group with hands-on technical skill,” and they seem to be talking about around 2007, “This group was significantly reduced soon after the ’07 amendments and the effective leadership and oversight by MoH has reduced.”  Your comment on that submission?

A. Again, they have not discussed with us and I think that there are a number of approaches in terms of making sure that the public health agenda, including drinking water, remains a priority for the Ministry of Health and I think that the current approach that we are looking at this sort of stuff is open to actually looking at whether or not we need additional support.  Now, I – it is surprising to me all those parties have expressed a view, but they have certainly not raised it with me or the Ministry.

Q. The PSA further submits, “Once Dr Michael Taylor retired, the group was progressively downsized to what is now around two people.  One consequence of this downsizing is the failure to revise and reissue key documents in a timely manner,” and they give several example of that.  Do you accept that there is anything in that comment?

A. Again, I can't comment because no one has spoken - what I do want to retread though is that, I mean, I appointed some key staff in place, the door was opened around making sure that we are well resourced both internally in the Ministry, but the more important point is how we used the broader system including contractors and other experts that we regularly have access available.  So having the option of employing people is not the only way how we might achieve this. 

Q. But would you accept that regardless of the use of ESR and the DHBs and so-on, you do need an adequate core of people sitting within the Ministry?

A. Correct. 

Q. To provide the leadership that you have accepted is needed?

A. Correct. 

Q. The Inquiry has had evidence from the Crown submission that there is a staffing level of 3.5 full-time equivalents.  Can you tell us please who are the 3.5 FTE personnel in the Ministry attending drinking water?

A. I know Sally Gilbert leads that team.  Then I don’t know all the staff.  I have 1100 staff in the Ministry.

Q. And I won't ask you to name all of them.

A. Absolutely, I can't.  I can probably give you 100 but probably not 1100.

Q. Am I right that we've got Sally Gilbert and Scott Rostran who are core drinking water people?

A. Yeah.

Q. And then –

A. Well, can I just come back to that?  Sally Gilbert leads the environmental protection team.  They have a range of responsibility and drinking water is within their portfolio.

Q. So she's not full-time drinking water?

A. Well, she's got the broad portfolio for environmental health.

Q. And are you aware there are some people, I think like Mr Ogilvy or Mr Harding who provide some part-time input?

A. Yeah.

Q. I've talked to you about the need for leadership on quite a varied number of fronts.  You do need person-power to deliver that don’t you?  You need more than one or two or three people to provide leadership to the drinking water industry in New Zealand.  Would you accept that?

A. I accept that when the resource are required, it's etiquette I expect to be told and expected to be met, so that I can support that.

Q. All right.  So if any of these industry groups or DHBs were to put a case to you for greater resources, would you look at that receptively?

A. Within the Ministry or in the organisation?  I can't direct what happens in the organisation.

Q. Of course not.  No, I'm talking about within the Ministry.

A. Yeah.

Q. Yeah.

A. Yeah, like I said, I keep an open door and, you know, if there's a request for extra resources then I'm receptive to hearing those requests.

JUSTICE STEVENS ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. I think it is fair to say that there is a strong message coming –

A. I think that’s loud and clear and the message I think I'm hearing is that there's a perception that the team is under-resourced.  I don’t necessarily accept that but I'm hearing it.

Q. No, no, that is great and we are aware that Dr McElnay has been with you for just over five months.

A. Yeah.

Q. So she is a new appointment and of course not only responsible as director for public health but also with a specific interest in drinking water.

A. Yeah.

Q. And I am sure we will come on later but yesterday, we she was on a super-panel and we made significant progress in matters that could be done immediately, which was very encouraging.

A. Good.

Q. So thank you.

A. I look forward to her report.

MR GEDYE ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. An example perhaps of the need for resources, that whole suite manuals and guides I took you to and I think there's been evidence there's 39 of those.  A good number of those will need updating and keeping abreast of developments won't they?

A. Yeah.  Yes.

Q. And you need, I don’t want to use the word manpower, but person power seems silly.  You need resource and people.

A. Yeah.

Q. To keep a suite of 39 manuals up-to-date don’t you?  Do you accept that given the importance of drinking water to public health and all of the issues that have come out of this Inquiry, that it's important to boost the resources if you're to address all these issues?

A. I'm open to the submissions from my specialist staff around what resource that is required and I wait for that.

Q. Do you accept that in the current circumstances anyway, it would be desirable to have capacity and resources not only to react to events but to manage proactively and strategically take the initiative and to have a strategic leadership capability?  Do you see that as important?

A. I'm sure that’s something we will look at, you know, when we look at all the findings from this stage 2.

Q. Would you accept that international best practice is that drinking water regulators do have that type of strategic capability?

A. I accept they're bringing a perspective but what they don’t know is the New Zealand context.  So we will actually need to actually take their views on board and actually work with all the communities which thus far have not had satisfactory drinking water and that’s not an excuse to delay things.

JUSTICE STEVENS ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. I did not understand you to be putting it forward as an excuse.

A. No.  I just wanted to make sure that, you know, my position was clear, that I understand the urgency and importance of this issue.

Q. And I think it is fair to say that most of the people who are submitting on resourcing issues are in and of the drinking water industry.  So you have got Water New Zealand, you have got DHBs, you have got DWAs, you know, it is everyone within the system who are, you know, in a sense yelping for help.

A. Yeah.

Q. Yes.

A. Yeah, I can accept that.

Q. So my point is that they know the system, you know, and they know the New Zealand context and yet they are still saying that resourcing is an issue.

A. I'm hearing loud and clear so let's look at it.

Q. Brilliant.  Thank you.

A. Yeah.
MR GEDYE ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. I'm knocking on an open door, Mr Chuah.  I'll stop knocking and move on.

A. Please.

Q. Drinking Water Assessors.  The Inquiry has heard a lot of evidence and you'd accept, wouldn't you, that they are a very central part of the whole drinking water regime, the DWAs?

A. Yeah.

Q. They carry out the policing and auditing of suppliers don’t they?

A. Correct.

Q. And we've looked at the legislation whereby you appoint Drinking Water Assessors, it's a specific power given to the Director-General?

A. I do.

Q. And that they need to be accredited and that you administer the accreditation scheme as well?

A. Correct.

Q. Do you understand that?  And under section 69(ZM), Drinking Water Assessors are accountable to the Director-General directly and have to report to the Director-General under 69(ZL) and that the Director‑General can specify the functions to be carried out by a DWA.  So would you accept broadly that you have the pen regarding DWAs?

A. Correct but I'm not the employer.

JUSTICE STEVENS ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
No, no, we appreciate that.  We have got that.

MR GEDYE ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. No, that’s the very point I want to raise with you, Mr Chuah, there's this, I suggest, quite awkward arrangement where they're employed by the DHB but answerable largely to you.

A. That is the current regime, yeah.

Q. I just wanted to ask you where that issue might go because Dr Snee wrote to you about this didn’t he on the 18th of May and I've put the letters in this bundle in your folder there under tab 4.  Am I right that he wrote to you on 18 May saying, “I would like to try and clarify some aspects of the DWA accountability.”?

A. Yeah.  Dr Snee wrote to me but before he wrote to me he rang me and the context of the letter was that he would like to actually engage the Ministry on the prosecution support to look at not just the whole issue of the DWA but the broad Public Health Unit agenda.

Q. But in particular in this letter, 18 May ’07, which is CB203 in the Inquiry documents, he said, “It would be better if there was a clear line of accountability from you as the Director-General through the CEO of the DHB.”  So was he in effect saying we need to clarify the line of accountability and it should be to me as CEO rather than to you?  Is that broadly –

A. That’s a possible interpretation because I haven't had a chance to talk to him and it is something that we need to consider as a whole because of the current regime we work in where I accredit it but they're employed by the local DHBs and other Public Health Units.

Q. It's messy isn't it?

A. Well, I think it requires clarification.  You started by talking earlier around it's the model that requires that strong collaboration and sort of stuff.  It is an option to simplify the structure where everything kind of all lines up and that is a possible thing that we could look at but that’s a case we'll need to look at what's involved in doing that sort of stuff.

Q. And naturally enough, Mr Chuah, you delegated the response to Dr Jessamine.  What's his role in the Ministry drinking water regime?

A. Dr Jessamine has, is the Director of Protection, Regulations and Assurance in the Ministry and public health agendas under Dr Jessamine and the real –

Q. Now he, is he the next layer below you on drinking water?
A. He reports directly to me.

Q. Yes.  And, sorry, I didn’t mean to stop you.

A. So the point raised by Dr Snee around, specifically around the DWAs and the more broader issues, because when Dr Snee rang me he was just as interested on the broader issues on the public health agenda as he was on DWA and given the sense that he was raising both the issues with me that I referred the matter to Dr Jessamine to say, “This is something we need to engage in.”  

Q. And you’ll see in this bundle of papers that he did write on the 
6th of June to Dr Snee didn’t he, quite a lengthy letter, but that – have you seen his reply and been part of that reply?

A. I'm reading now so…

Q. But you’re not familiar with what his response was?

A. I know what he wrote to doctor yeah.

Q. Yeah.  Well please take your time if you like, but as I read his reply it doesn’t come up with any answer?

A. Look I think that that one there is not designed to be the one in final response to Dr Snee’s question, I think that there will be further conversation taking place.  If the – if Dr Snee and other DHB’s Chief Executive, because this is purely not over Havelock North because if you make, if you’re going to make any Hawke's Bay DHB, if we were to make any changes to the suggestion that Dr Snee’s talking about we will need to actually involve the other District Health Board also Public Health Units.

Q. It's a national matter isn't it?

A. It is a national matter so we can't actually sort of look at making changes just to one DHB.  

Q. I may be wrong but my understanding of the correspondences and there's been further correspondence and I think a brief meeting or a phone conference.  Am I right in my understanding that it's not yet been resolved and it's still up in the air?

A. It is still work in progress yeah.

Q. Is that something that Dr Jessamine will pursue rather than you personally?

A. Correct.  Can I elaborate on that because I think, as I said earlier, this is something that we need to bring to the attention of the other Public Health Units and our District Health Boards that there has been a proposal or request from Hawke's Bay DHB Chief Executive and in many ways I would actually expect that Dr Snee would have actually raised that with his other CEO colleagues, that he was actually going to recommend a change.  So we need to actually follow and have the conversation and we have mechanisms on how we would do that.

Justice Stevens ADDRESSES Mr Chuah:

Q. Is there a grouping of, where –

A. Not all District Health Boards have Public Health Units but quite a number have.

Mr Gedye ADDRESSES Mr Chuah:

Q. Just to reduce the matter to a very simple form, one of the DWAs Mr Wood gave evidence to the Inquiry it's awkward trying to serve two masters.  Just at a very simple level would you accept that it's inherently awkward having two masters, one the DHB and the Director‑General?

A. Well I think that that’s a model if you look at health we have lots of instances like this because if you are a health professional you have an accreditation responsibility to the creating body then you have a responsibility in terms of the employers who employs you to do your work.  So I think it's not unusual setting, it actually does require, you know, both parties or all three parties actually work together on the issues.

Q. Can I just give you a practical example of where the Inquiry understands the problem may lie.  One example is enforcement.  A DWA sees non‑compliance and has exhausted a cajoling approach and is contemplating enforcement action.  My understanding is at the moment because of the Ministry of Health report that DWA can't resolve it with his employer or her employer but must first check with the Ministry.  That seems an inefficient and potentially messy situation doesn’t it?

A. That’s the current regime though my expecting how this thing would work would be if a DWA takes up an instance when enforcement need to be done in the first instance it should be discussed locally with the Medical Officer of Health and the DHB Public Health Units and if they can advance that they need to inform the Ministry they are proposing to do that and if they can't advance it then the Ministry would be asked to help support and often before they reach the decision, they would actually be having conversation, not just with the Public Health Unit but actually with the Ministry.

JUSTICE STEVENS ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. I think it is fair to say that we are picking up from the evidence that we have heard that this is a real area of both difficulty and confusion.

A. I hear that and I think that we will need to actually go back and have a look at specific requests and instances around why that exists.  Now, is it actually interpretation issue or is it a matter of fact?

Q. And I think it is probably linked to the lack of clarity about enforcement issues, lies at the heart of it really.  So if our earlier discussion about enforcement approach is addressed, that would certainly help.

A. Yeah.

Q. The two are linked.

A. Yeah, they do.

MR GEDYE ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. But in principle, am I right that the Ministry of Health keeps clear of operational matters and sees itself as a policy entity?

A. Correct.

Q. And if you have only got 3.5 FTE, is there any reason in principle why you wouldn't be more than happy to devolve all operational matters to the DHB in relation to DWAs?

A. In principle I don’t see why not because that is the model.  It depends on what you interpreted as operations versus policy changes.

Q. Yes, of course.  There might be grey areas too?

A. Correct.

Q. But you could re-write or you could amend your contracts with the DHBs to just make it clear that the DHB will exercise the direct accountability in all matters for DWAs.  Would you see a conceptual problem with that?

A. None.

JUSTICE STEVENS ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. And there is another point there, that there being no conceptual problem, it is sorted.

A. Happy to actually receive, you know, the joint proposals from all the multiple Public Health and the DHBs who run these around how they would like to actually propose an alternative, you know, and to date we haven't received any but I'm sure that, you know, the proof is not that difficult to achieve but we do need to get a national consistency and direction around how that will be done if it's to be delegated down to a local level.

MR GEDYE ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. Indeed.  Mr Chuah, the Inquiry has had quite a lot of evidence from DWAs themselves and DHBs talking about other problems.  I'd just like to cover a few.  One is that there is a critical shortage of DWAs.  They can't get enough of them.  They can't recruit them and very low numbers have been trained each year and it's hard to hang onto them.  Does the Ministry accept the need to try and work out resolutions to that shortage problem?

A. I accept that and so from in my role in my office in terms of the multiple conversations I have with Chief Executive of Ministry of Health Board, this is not an issue they put to me and requesting for help.  I would expect that given the significance of this, if they're raising it as an issue, that’s something they should put to me and I'll be very receptive for that because the employment issues lies with the District Health Boards.  If they have particular issues around why they're not able to fill the vacancies, and if they cannot actually achieve that at a local level, and if they can't actually get the support from their colleagues in other Public Health Units, then that’s an appropriate issue to escalate to the Ministry.

Q. One aspect of the recruitment problem we spoke of earlier is this requirement that a DWA also be a qualified health protection officer and that issue has been clearly signalled in the Inquiry and in the Crown fact paper, and I think Ms Gilbert’s evidence, the Ministry of Health response has quite firmly been, “No, we think that requirement should stay.”  And my view is that there's almost no reasoning given for that and that it's unsatisfactory.  So the Ministry has taken a very firm position to the Inquiry on that and if I were to suggest to you that that’s a matter that should be addressed further and looked at again, would you be prepared to support that?

A. I think that I will be prepared to actually consider it because I haven't had a discussion with my staff with that and I am not having it in front of the Inquiry. 

JUSTICE STEVENS ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
And I think Mr Gedye is being careful to put that as his suggestion, but certainly the evidence that we have heard indicates a serious shortage of DWAs nationally and in particular in the Hawke's Bay region and they are struggling.  If you look at the makeup of their DWA complement, it's troubling. 

MR WILSON ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. Mr Chuah, you weren't here to hear the evidence, but the quantum is in the order of the need for a 30% increase nationally.

A. Again, I come back to, I mean given that the DHBs, multiple DHBs have responsibility to employ, you know, public health professionals and if I listen to what you are telling me this is of significance, that’s something that they should raise with me, you know.

JUSTICE STEVENS:

Can I also – yes, sorry –

DR POUTASI:
Q. Just for the record and it is probably in your batch there, Mr Chuah, where Kevin Snee wrote to you on the 1st of June saying he remains concerned about the supply of Drinking Water Assessors and sees the need for training and supply being an urgent matter that will require partnership between the DHBs and the Ministry.  So obviously that concern is being expressed and to the Ministry. 

A. Yeah and what I mean this sort of stuff actually is that, you know, if it is a much broader issue, what I like to understand is that has he seeked [sic] help from his other colleagues in terms of solving his very local issue.  

JUSTICE STEVENS ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q.  Yes and we haven't had evidence on that, to be fair. 

A. And that would be my starting point, say.

Q. But – well, but we have heard evidence that there is a shortage, strong evidence, but not only that but if and to the extent that there isn't a prompt change to the enforcement regime it doesn’t take a rocket scientist to work out that there may be a need for more resources, if you are going to enforce or if you are going to be in contact with all of the water suppliers with crosses by their names and there are all the many in the report.  So my point is, yes, wait until it's escalated, but I would have thought that there is an obligation on the – or a –

A. I agree with you because what the Inquiry has raised is there is a number of things for the Ministry need to look at now.

Q. Of course.

A. And this is a leadership role.  I'm trying to address specifically the issue around the letter that Dr Snee has written to me. 

Q. I see. 

A. And we need to consider that as we’re looking all the broader issues, right?  I am not asking to go away.

Q. No. 

A. Right. 
MR WILSON ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. At the moment in fact, Dr Snee is using a DWA from a different Public Health Unit for as his principal DWA. 

A. Yeah, I’m – my understanding is the different Public Health Units from time they actually do actually support each other by actually seconding or lending workforce.

JUSTICE STEVENS:

Q.  To cover the shortage.

A. Yeah, absolutely.  And there was clearly demonstrating even to particular incident around medical officers health, for example.

MR GEDYE ADDRESSES MR CHUAH: 

Q. Well, just to add to that just to perhaps try and persuade you of the real nature of this problem, there is one, Mr Wood is based in Palmerston North, he has to travel up and down and the other Drinking Water Assessor, Mr Molloy, is contracted I think to provide two weeks a month and one week here in Hawke's Bay and the rest of it back where he lives I think in Nelson.  So it really does seemed very, very stretched on that basis, wouldn't you agree?  In the sense that there is no DWA lives in the region and there is only very limited coverage on the ground?

A. And I would like to know what the DHBs are doing about that.

Q. Yeah, okay.

A. As the employers and with the responsibility. 

Q. But if I – can I ask you, there is some things the Ministry must do if it is to be done.  One is to remove the HPO qualification, that is in the Ministry’s accreditation document and it can be removed, but only by the Ministry, so would you accept that is one thing that you need to look at, once you get advice.  Another thing is –

JUSTICE STEVENS ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. Could you –

A. Yes, yes, sorry, apologies.  Yes.

MR GEDYE ADDRESSES MR CHUAH: 

Q. Witness nods.  Another thing and I don’t want to keep quoting the legislation but section 69ZL(1)(j) says that, “The functions of the DWA are to carry out any other functions and duties in relation to the assessment of drinking water that the Director-General specifies by notice in writing signed by the Director-General and given to a Drinking Water Assessor.”  So of course you want to take advice on this, but on the face of it would you accept that you have the right to give notices specifying things they should be doing?

A. Yes.

Q. Now, yesterday the Inquiry heard that there is a major deficiency in Water Safety Plans in that they don’t cover critical control points, in other words directions on what to do and when.  So what I’m putting to you is that you have the power to specify by notice that DWAs require that in the Water Safety Plan.  Again is that – do you accept that that is the sort of administrative step that after conferring with your officials you can take in your own right without any reference to Government and that you would be prepared to take that sort of step, if you were persuaded it is justified?

A. If I am persuaded, yeah. 

Q. Of course, I am not trying to lock you into any particular –

A. Look, my position is, I am not an expert in these things.  I will need to take expert advice and consider the information.  So, but I am open to taking the advice.

JUSTICE STEVENS ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. I would just like to share with you one of the great moments of this Inquiry was yesterday where we had Dr McElnay on the panel and we had Dr Deere who provided a template, actually gave the Inquiry how you do it, Dr Deere and Dr Fricker are willing to write the templates for the Ministry, to help you and that can be done immediately and a direction can go out, a letter can go out to the Medical Officers of Health and to the Drinking Water Assessors and Dr McElnay was delighted that we’re encouraging this step.

A. And I will be delighted to receive her advice.  

Q. Wonderful.

MR GEDYE ADDRESSES MR CHUAH: 

Q. Mr Chuah, I know that you will never tire of me quoting the Health Act to you.  

A. I read it religiously.

Q. Section 69Z, subsection (2), sub-subsection (vi) which you will be familiar with, says that, “A Water Safety Plan must comply with any additional requirements imposed by the Director-General by notice in writing given to the supplier as to the content and format of a Water Safety Plan.”  What I am putting to you is that tomorrow you could sign a notice saying, “To all suppliers, you must henceforth include critical control points in your Water Safety Plans from a date to be advised or under some circumstances.”  If the international experts and your staff advise you that it is highly desirable that Water Safety Plans have critical control points, would you have any objection in principle to signing a notice and issuing it under that section?

A. None and with one additional step which is we have to give notice to the sector that it is coming, yeah, so.

Q. Of course.
JUSTICE STEVENS ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. Of course and what you would be doing by signing off on that would be bringing the Water Safety Plans up to World Health Organisation –

A. Sure.

Q. – best practice.  So it's sort of a no-brainer, yeah.

A. I look forward to Dr McElnay’s advice. 

MR GEDYE ADDRESSES MR CHUAH: 
Q. Just a little further on DWAs, there was also some issues raised about the technical advice available to them and some issues about it being less than straight-forward getting ESR advice via the Ministry.  Would you be prepared to look at that issue if it is put to you for consideration?

A. Yeah if they have all the facts and all the information we will look at it.

Q. And I think all other matters could just come under the heading of interfacing between DWAs and the Ministry of Health.  But would you accept that if you clarify and alter somewhat the line of accountability then you may not need to be troubled by DWA matters very much at all?

A. Potentially, let's see what we come out with, yeah would be to look at.  Can I make a point here, I mean I'm open to suggestion on how what make this thing works, I'm not philosophical or hanging onto things that doesn’t work.  So, you know, I'm, but I need to take advice on those things.

Justice Stevens ADDRESSES Mr Chuah:

Q. When we get to the end of the questions I’ll confer with my panel and we’ll try and do a summary of where we've got to.

A. Sure.

Mr Gedye ADDRESSES Mr Chuah:

Q. While I think the Inquiry appreciates greatly what you’re saying Mr Chuah can I just put the question of timing and perhaps urgency to you.  Paragraph 133 of the Crown fact paper filed on your behalf says, “The National Drinking Water Assessor’s Technical Manual is currently under review by the MoH.  Further review will be undertaken as appropriate and will incorporate any recommendations from the Inquiry.”  What I wanted to put to you is that has a little bit of a flavour of a long and very stately process and that there are a lot of reasons why a lot more urgency should be given to that review and all these DWA reviews.  Would you accept it's desirable to proceed as quickly as possible on these changes?

A. Again I think that, you know, there are things that should be expedited that, you know, needs to make this drink water with is within my powers in working with the community and the industry there's no reason why we should slow it down.

Q. Can I change to the topic of laboratories Mr Chuah.  At tab 7 in those documents in the folder provided to you can I refer you to a letter from the Hastings District Council dated 17 July 2017 addressed to you as the Director-General of Health, do you have that letter there?

A. Yeah.

Q. Do you recall receiving this?

A. I don’t recall.

Q. Well just to give you the context Mr Thew of HDC is writing to you and he say, “We had a serious problem with one of the laboratories we were using after the outbreak and a fundamental error was made.  We are now really concerned that we can't rely on accreditation of laboratories by the Ministry of Health.  Water suppliers all depend on the Director‑General’s recognised laboratories to provide reliable and fit for purpose testing,” and they ask a number of questions, “How is the quality assurance being achieved and demonstrated for laboratories, who is responsible for monitoring laboratory performance, can results be made available to us and how are issues and concerns with the laboratories managed?”  So the HDC wrote you to you really placing squarely an issue, the quality of the laboratory system and what I want you to comment on is the Ministry of Health response which is next in the bundle which is dated 1st August, in other words just a really less than two weeks ago and Dr Jessamine has replied.  Were you part of formulating this reply Mr Chuah or has all this happened beneath your level?

A. This has been delegated to Dr Jessamine to reply on my behalf.

Q. So can I take it you weren't part of considering this issue and responding to it yourself?

A. On those technical issues I rarely do, I rely on my staff to do that.

Q. Well I'm not trying to cut across that but I did want to put to you some of the things he said in this letter and ask you whether you think they are of concern.  In the second paragraph he says, “The statutory duties and powers of the Director-General in relation to drinking water laboratories are limited to recognition of drinking water testing laboratories and the maintenance of a register.”  So the Ministry’s response is that you, the Director-General, have very limited duties and powers.  Do you want to comment on that?

A. No.

Q. In the next paragraph he says, “The Director-General of Health requires that the laboratory be accredited by IANZ,” are you generally aware that IANZ accredits laboratories?

A. Yes.

Q. And the legislation says they shall be accredited and that you use IANZ for that purpose right?

A. Yes.

Q. In the next paragraph Dr Jessamine says, “The Director-General does not monitor or guarantee the individual performance of laboratories IANZ are responsible for monitory laboratory performance when conducting audits,” right?

A. Correct.

Q. Over the page two other statements I want to ask you about and the penultimate paragraph.  “The Ministry is not statutorily empowered to investigate or respond further.  The laboratory’s recognition I think in the first place was not subject to any terms or conditions under section 69ZY(3) and therefore the Ministry has no statutory power to suspend or withdraw the laboratory’s recognition unless IANZ revokes it.”  What I want to put to you Mr Chuah is that the water supply that had the outbreak is writing to you saying we’ve got a major problem with the laboratory and we basically don’t have confidence in the system and the Ministry of Health in effect is writing back saying we don’t have the ability to do anything about this, we simply require accreditation by IANZ and there's nothing else we can do.  Do you accept that’s a response by the Ministry of Health which is of no help at all to Hastings District Council?

A. That would be – you could interpret that but I'm, what I'm seeing Dr Jessamine do is to explain to the Hastings District Council how the system works.  Now it doesn’t mean that we don’t have other conversations around trying to address the issues raised in the correspondence.

Justice Stevens ADDRESSES Mr Chuah:

Q.  Well I'm glad you raised that because we, you’ll see in page 2 that this letter is copied to Mr Geoff Hallam and he was here at the Inquiry during the week and this letter was discussed and he, we asked him had he received it and at that point in time he hadn't received it and, no, no, I'm just telling you what the facts are and then he was asked, “Well before it was written did anyone from the Ministry of Health ring you up to discuss it?”  And the answer was, “No.”  So this story, if you like, is about leadership.  A DHB and the back story to the letter that was written to you by Mr Thew was that he was asked by this Inquiry, “Have you written yet?”  Because we wrote about this in our stage 1 report about this appalling error that was made by the laboratory affecting 1300 samples and he hadn't written.  So we said, “Well please write.”  So we were very pleased that he’d written, he sent us a copy but the response is, there was no discussion so in terms of you might have thought that someone would ring him up and explain or talk to Mr Hallam and tell him that you'd received the letter and what had he done about it or what had IANZ done about it but it's all just fallen through the cracks?

A. I can't comment on that.

Q. No I know.

A. And I think you probably need to ask Dr Jessamine around what was behind this stuff because, you know, you’re asking me to comment on a letter that, you know, was written by somebody else.

Q. No, I was only filling in the facts.

A. And I'm not making any assumption anyway.

Q. No.

A. That’s right, so, yeah.

Q. But I too would have thought that before you write a letter like this, you ring up IANZ who have a obviously a critical role in the system, and say, “Well, what do you know about the lab that mucked up 1300 – what have you done about it?”  And is there a problem with monitoring?  

A. I get what you say.  Look, I think if an assumption has been made around the lack of a conversation with IANZ before the letter got sent, and it seems to be where it's going, I actually can't comment on that.

Q. No, no.  Fair point.  But it is sort of troubling in a –

A. Well, I can't comment on whether it is or isn't so I'm not going to jump and say it's troubling or it's not troubling.

Q. Right, thank you.

MR GEDYE ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. Mr Chuah, can I ask whether you're aware of the issue a long time ago given that in an interim report and recommendations from the Inquiry dated 15 December last year, one of the recommendations was that the water safety Joint Working Group satisfy itself that persons carrying out sampling and testing are properly trained and competent and other recommendations to that effect and this is before the particular error was found.  Was that 15 December 2016 recommendation drawn to your attention?

A. No.

Q. The Joint Working Group in its minutes, which were publically made available to the Inquiry and put on its website and would have been available to the Ministry that way, recommended that the Ministry of Health be requested to review laboratory processes and to enhance levels of assurance from accreditation.  Was the 31 March 2017 Joint Working Group recommendations drawn to your attention?

A. Not to my attention.  You're asking quite a lot of detail around something that’s quite detailed.  It's not a matter that normally gets drawn to my attention, you know, in terms of that sort of detail you're talking about and, you know, I wouldn't expect those sort of things as a matter of course to be coming to me because I have other people who deals with the stuff.

Q. And the Crown submission to the Inquiry on the question of what level of expertise is needed by water testing laboratories simply says, “This is a matter for IANZ to determine as part of the accreditation or recognition of laboratories.”  But it is you who recognises laboratories isn't it, the Director-General?

A. Correct.

Q. And at paragraph 176 of the Crown submission, it says, “Laboratories should meet appropriate quality standards and independent accreditation or recognition is an appropriate way to demonstrate this.”  But as far as you're concerned, Mr Chuah, am I right that that’s surely not an acceptable answer to widespread laboratory concerns is simply to say, “Go and talk to IANZ,” because you recognise laboratories don’t you?

A. We recognise laboratory, yeah.

Q. Are you aware of a paper by Dr Fricker on problems he sees with having a dual qualification for laboratories being the fully accredited laboratory and the level 2 laboratory?  Are you aware of that issue?

A. No.

Q. Do you accept that laboratories are extremely important in the safety of drinking water?

A. Yes.

Q. If suppliers and DWAs can't rely safely on test results, then you have no assurance at all do you?

A. That would be a good supposition, yes.

Q. If you're getting false positives or false negatives, that must be a serious worry because you can't rely on them, correct?

A. That’s a very simplistic way to look at things but if you want to go that way, yes.

Q. Do the medical laboratories come under your jurisdiction?

A. I, that’s not something I know at the moment.

Q. I was just going to put to you that you would presumably require the highest standards for human medical laboratory testing.  Anyone would require that, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And yet drinking water could make thousands of people sick in one stroke if we get it wrong.  Do you accept that?

A. Accept that, yeah.

Q. If the Inquiry produces evidence and if your officials produce evidence that the laboratory system in New Zealand needs a good looking at, would you as Director-General support that?

A. Absolutely.

Mr Gedye ADDRESSES THE PANEL (13:01:03) – CONVENIENT TIME

legal discussion – timing 

JUSTICE STEVENS:
Ms Arapere?

MS ARAPERE:
Sir, if it assists, some of the more detailed questions that have been put to Mr Chuah, Dr Jessamine is here today, Sir, if you wish to hear from him.

JUSTICE STEVENS:
Very good.  Yes.  We understand.

MS ARAPERE:
Thank you, Sir.
INQUIRY ADJOURNS:
1.02 pm

Inquiry RESUMES:
2.11 pm

Mr Gedye ADDRESSES Mr Chuah:

Q. Mr Chuah the Inquiry has received submissions to the effect that a number of the key drinking water guideline documents are out of date and need to be updated.  Do you accept that’s the case?

A. Oh, yeah yep I do.

Q. As one example it's been submitted that the Water Safety Plan templates are now lagging well behind international best practice, were you aware that?

A. Yeah.

Q. Does the Ministry of Health have the resources to address promptly the updating of the guidelines?

A. If they haven't got one then they all needed to just approach me.

Justice Stevens ADDRESSES Mr Chuah:

Q. And you'd be receptive to – 

A. Absolutely, absolutely.

Mr Gedye ADDRESSES Mr Chuah:

Q. One of the issues the Inquiry was hoping for some proposal on or some comment on was the question of a standalone drinking water regulator.  Can I ask whether that’s a concept you have considered?

A. The establishing of a regulator obviously it's a decision that won't be mine, it needs to be, I suspect it will be something I need to go back to Government and get their agreement setting up a separate regulator.

Q. Yes it's a major change?

A. It is a major change and there will be a number of things that need to be taken into account before we give, advise them on that.

Q. But accepting that there would have to be a process is it an idea that you believe might have some merit in the sense of combining resources and bringing great focus to bear on drinking water?

A. I would need to see the merits and the arguments for that before I would actually say, you know, whichever way it is but I would keep an open mind.

Q. Well could we say it's not an idea which you'd be implacably opposed to in principle?

A. It's an idea needs to stand on its merit and I keep an open mind around what facts and information is provided to support that because my view is that any new structure we set up needs to actually work – deliver an outcome that’s much better than what it is today.  So I need to see the argument and the merits.

Mr Wilson ADDRESSES Mr Chuah:

Q.  But we have agreed the current outcomes are not the ones that we should be aiming to achieve?

A. I agree and I wouldn't automatically leap to say a separate regulator would achieve a better outcome but it is an option that I will keep in mind.  

Mr Gedye ADDRESSES Mr Chuah:
Q. Mr Chuah can I ask you about the 2011 amendments that Ms Gilbert covered in her evidence.  She said that in 2011 the Minister of Health the Honourable Tony Ryall approved policy options which would have amended part 2 of the Health Act and there's a list of agreed amendments and then she says the amendments were not made to the Health Act because the Public Health Bill was discharged from Parliament and as I understand the matter’s just been left there, are you able to throw any light on this as to why the bill was discharged and why it wasn't brought back at the next opportunity?

A. Look, I can't throw any light on that at the moment.  In my view that there'd be a number of reasons.  That’s something I'm happy for me to come back and brought back to the Panel on.

Q. I think to be fair, this is before your time isn't it, 2011?

A. Before my time but, you know, if you would like me to look into that and come back, I'm happy to actually report back.

JUSTICE STEVENS:
Actually, that would be really helpful because what seems to have happened is that the policy sign-off and the process seems to have been gone through to enable change.  Ministers signed off on it and it has come back but nothing has happened and I think there were several examples in that category, were there not, Mr Gedye?

MR GEDYE:
Yes, that’s right, Sir.

MR CHUAH:
Why don’t I come back.

JUSTICE STEVENS ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. That would be very helpful.

A. Yeah.

Q. I am making a wee list here so I will add that to the list of what we can talk about.

A. Sure.

MR GEDYE ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. With regard to a review of the Drinking Water Standards, the Inquiry has had evidence that the Ministry of Health has been reviewing that but they suspended it due to the Inquiry and pending the Inquiry result.  Mr Chuah, I put it to you that the Inquiry has no reason to suspend such a review and that it's important that it carry on.  Would you agree with that?

A. Well, I haven't had in-depth discussion or any discussion with staff around the suspended issue and I'm sure that we had good reasons why the staff done that and I think that the point you're raising is that you, you said there's no reason why it shouldn't carry on.  Obviously there will be a good reason for my staff why they suspended it.

Q. Can I ask you about industry collaboration?  Are you aware that that is one of the key topics the Inquiry has been looking at, that is collaboration between different agencies in the drinking water industry?

A. I'm not aware but that would sound imminently sensible given the nature of how our system works.

Q. It's a fragmented system isn't it?

A. It's a system that has multiple actors doing different roles and therefore high level of communication collaboration is essential.

JUSTICE STEVENS ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. Just on that, the detail of what we are looking at, we issued a minute number 8, this was back in May/June, and it set out the stage 2 issues and questions and that is where people have been referring to issue 1 and 2 and issue 15, 16, which is laboratories.  That is what we are drawing from.  So that is the source of that point.

A. Yeah.

Q. And that is like our agenda.

A. Yeah.

Q. Thank you.

MR GEDYE ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. Well, were you aware from the stage 1 report that the Inquiry has found that there was a problem with collaboration between the District Council at Hastings and the Hawke’s Bay Regional Council such that the relationship was in fact in many ways dysfunctional?  Are you aware that’s one of the findings of the Inquiry?

A. I have read that in the findings, yes.

Q. Sitting where you sat in the Ministry of Health, Mr Chuah, were you aware of those problems with the relationship in Hawke’s Bay between the District and Regional Councils?

A. No.

Q. Were you aware of any other dysfunctional relationships between Regional and District Councils through the country?

A. No, and I would expect that the District Health Boards that has got local relationships to be actively working those relationships and if they have difficulties with that, and doesn’t make any progress, that can be escalated.

Q. I think you agreed earlier on that promoting collaboration between industry members is a good example of leadership by the Ministry.

A. Correct.

Q. And to the extent there are initiatives in place now to increase collaboration, is the Ministry, under your guidance, happy to encourage that?

A. Absolutely.  Clearly, I mean, our expectation before this incident was to work a model where we delegate the responsibility to the local District Health Boards and the Regional Public Health Units, which is appropriate because they need to work with the local Council, Regional Council and, you know, given the findings of phase 1, and then we'll probably need to re-look at the nature having much clearer expectation of reporting with those relationships and collaboration is not working and Ministry would be happy to intervene.

Q. Could I ask you to look at tab 5 in the bundle of documents there, which is the letter from Dr McElnay to the chairman of the Hawke’s Bay Joint Working Group dated the 4th of May ’17.  This letter records that the Ministry of Health was invited to participate in the Joint Working Group.  Dr Jessamine had asked her to respond on his behalf.  The third paragraph says, “I consider the group to be extremely worthwhile and the Ministry of Health officials are watching the activities of the group with interest to see if it is a model for drinking water management in other regions,” and so on, “But the Ministry of Health did not want to participate with the Joint Working Group.”  Would you accept that’s a decision that may be counterproductive to the Ministry showing leadership in collaboration?

A. I don’t accept that at all.  I think you should ask Dr McElnay why there would be a good reason why she writes that.

Q. But to show leadership, you might have to roll up your sleeves and not act just remotely from Wellington don’t you think?

A. Absolutely and I think there is a time for doing that.  I'm sure there'll be a reason why Dr McElnay at this point said it wasn’t appropriate.

Q. And there may well be reasons why the Ministry of Health doesn’t want to send a person frequently to Hawke’s Bay but would you accept that just showing a greater level of support might be useful to a Joint Working Group?

A. If you are inferring from the letter that we are not showing support, I don’t get that sense at all.  In terms of the communications I've had with the District Health Board chief executive, there has been no indication around that, you know, they were not being supportive and that they wanted greater support from us.  In fact, one of the things we emphasise quite a lot in the Ministry is to make sure that we are not too overbearing and interfering with the affairs of the District Health Boards and to get the balance right around when we can be the most useful to them because we are reminded constantly by District Health Board around, you know, Ministry can come in inappropriately and actually to meddle in the affairs of what should be in the purview of the District Health Boards.  So we have to walk that fine line and make some judgments about that.

Q. But do you remain interested in what you might call a template or a model for inter-agency collaboration for the drinking water industry?

A. Very interested.

Q. And you'd be happy to do some work on such a model and to promote it – 

A. Absolutely.

Q. – in due course?  Are your officials following the Inquiry’s work on collaboration and the recent developments with the Joint Working Group governance agreement?

A. I believe they're doing a number of things already underway and if the Panel will agree, I would like to write back to the Panel to tell them what is already underway.

Q. Thank you.  

JUSTICE STEVENS ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. I think that would be a very helpful indication.

A. Yeah, be very pleased to do that.

MR GEDYE ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. A number of submitters have talked about a new database called drinking water online.  Are you familiar with that new product?

A. I'm not familiar with the product specifically but I'm aware that is actively worked on and if I'm not mistaken, it's near completion or thereabouts.

Q. A number of submitters have criticised its functionality and said they had hoped it would do a lot more and it's basically not a lot of use to them.  If that sort of feedback came into the Ministry, would you be prepared to support further development of drinking water online?

A. I think I would need to look at it.  I mean I would keep an open mind.  I mean with any database that we set up, it all depends on what the original purpose was and we always have interested parties that actually want to widen the scope and we would just need to look at it.

Q. One critical aspect of the drinking water legal regime, Mr Chuah, is the provision in the Health Act that says that compliance with the Drinking Water Standards is not mandatory and absolute and it's in fact discretionary and depends on whether a suppliers has taken all practicable steps.  Do you think yourself that the time has come to stiffen up that requirement and to make it far less discretionary and to in fact require compliance?  Do you have any view on that?

A. Yeah, I think it's very much related to our earlier conversation around we look at the tables around the issues raised by the various suppliers.  I think that we need to revisit getting the balance more towards around reason why we haven't achieved the level of compliance.

Q. Would you agree, and just in concept, that enforcement is always going to face some difficulty if the duty to comply is a discretionary one and not a clear and absolute one?

A. Can you repeat the question?

Q. Would you accept you're always going to face some enforcement difficulties if the duty to comply is just discretionary?

A. I think if you make it discretionary, you know, then enforcement is difficult.

JUSTICE STEVENS ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. Hard for the prosecutor is it not?

A. Mmm.

Q. Hard to prove your case.

MR GEDYE ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. Well, presumably you'd agree, just as a matter of logic, that if you want to make your enforcement regime effective, the duties you are enforcing need to be pretty clear?

A. Absolutely.  I think we will look at the enforcement issue.  I think my overwhelming interest and to actually saying to step up into a more stiffer enforcement regime, how will that help speed up the compliance issue because we don’t want to just pursue an enforcement agenda if it doesn’t actually speed up the compliance issue.

JUSTICE STEVENS ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. It has got to drive change does it not?

A. It's got to drive change.

Q. And compliance.

A. And compliance and –

Q. And remove those crosses?

A. Removes those crosses and I think what we like to do actually is to really make sure that the community understands, you know, what it takes to actually get to the compliance and work with them because just purely I think just imposing a penalty on enforcement and the community not being able to do anything about it is not going to actually improve anything.  So I think we need to look at and, it's not or.

MR GEDYE ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. I spoke about the Drinking Water Standards and do you agree that the Standards are the basic and vital code of Standards and Rules that need to be complied with for drinking water;

A. Yes.

Q. And the Ministry has a substantial role in recommending to the Minister amendments to them?

A. Yes.

Q. From time to time?

A. Yes.

Q. You would agree, I take it, that with changes in science and technology, that, for example in the ability to detect protozoa, that the Drinking Water Standards should be kept abreast of those scientific changes?

A. Yes.

Q. Section 69P says that the Minister can't change the Drinking Water Standards unless there's been at least three years consultation and then section 69R says that there must be a further two years after the date of publication of Gazette.  So would you agree that a period of five years is far too long to wait to change the Drinking Water Standards?

A. Yes.

Q. A lot can happen in five years, correct?

A. Obviously.

Q. So can I take it you would support a change to this legislation enabling much quicker amendments to the Drinking Water Standards?

A. I think your point around how far science and technology is changing, you know, the timeframe it takes to actually update our Standards is taking, need to be revisited.

MR WILSON ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. Ironically, we have heard evidence that the cost of compliance has gone down.  Sorry, the cost of safely treating water has gone down but the current Standards do not recognise the technology.  So we are being hoisted a bit here on our petard.

A. I think that’s a very good point.  I mean it's a general point.  I think that what I'm seeing in a number of areas Ministry is involved in, there's a need to review the timing and the timeframe for updating our Regulations and our Standards.

MR GEDYE ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. We spoke earlier about an expert advisory panel and you said you were receptive to that idea, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. I'm right, aren't I, the Ministry of Health has recourse to substantial scientific expertise in the form of ESR and that you are happy to –

JUSTICE STEVENS ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. Is that a yes?

A. Yes.

Q. Yes, nods.

MR GEDYE ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. And you're happy to take advice from ESR in scientific matters?

A. Correct.

Q. Do you see any difference in that process and retaining a panel of experts on matters such as microbiology or chemistry or water treatment processes or other aspects of the drinking water system?  If you take advice from ESR, are you happy to take advice from other experts as well?

A. Totally.

Q. Particularly if that included international experts who could provide you with basically a shortcut or a piggy-back on all of the excellent aspects of international systems.

A. Totally.

Q. If you agree that there are a number of areas, quite a number of areas where change is needed.  Would you see it as making the Ministry’s job a lot easier and clearer to have a panel of experts carefully chosen but eminent in their field?

A. Yes.

Q. And is that a panel that you could set up without legislative change?

A. Yes.  Let me answer this way.  I have the ability to set up various advisory groups but from time to time, Ministers may decide that those advisory groups may report to the Ministers as opposed to report to Director-General.

JUSTICE STEVENS ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. When do they become a board?

A. Well, you know, I have advisory groups that report to Ministers.  

Q. Yes.

A. So, you know, the name doesn’t really matter.

Q. No.

A. It's about –

Q. You can do it?

A. Yeah.  So I have ability to set up advisory groups to advise me.

Q. Great.
MR GEDYE ADDRESSES MR CHUAH:
Q. I think the Inquiry is still learning more about The Three Waters Review that Government has announced but that review is coming up as well isn't it and it will include drinking water?

A. I'm not close to that.

Q. Well, assuming Government is setting up a Three Waters Review, would you agree that having a high quality expert panel would be of real benefit to that Government review as well?

A. I cannot speak on behalf of the Government on that issue.

Q. No.  But no doubt the Government will be wanting a lot of input from the Ministry of Health on a Three Waters Review?

A. Exactly and we will carefully consider how we provide that advice and that might include us getting external advice.

Q. Thank you, Mr Chuah.  Your Honour, I have concluded the questions I have for him.

JUSTICE STEVENS:
Just let me check with my Panel.  Dr Poutasi?

DR POUTASI:
No.

JUSTICE STEVENS:
No.  Mr Wilson?

MR WILSON:
Nothing.

JUSTICE STEVENS:
Thank you.  Ms Ridder, any questions?

MS RIDDER: 

Nothing, thank you, Sir.

JUSTICE STEVENS:
Ms Casey?

MS CASEY:
Nothing, thank you, Sir.

JUSTICE STEVENS:
Mr Matheson?

MR MATHESON:
No, thank you, Sir.

JUSTICE STEVENS:
Yes, and Ms Arapere?

MS ARAPERE:
Sir, I have no re-examination but as Mr Chuah was being questioned by my learned friend, we were jotting down a list of things that he has agreed to provide to the Inquiry –

JUSTICE STEVENS:
I am coming to that.

MS ARAPERE:
All right.

JUSTICE STEVENS:
Yes.  So why don’t you have your list at the ready.  I have got my list.  It is actually bigger than the size of the paper.  Shall we go through it together?

MS ARAPERE:
Certainly, Sir.

JUSTICE STEVENS:
Okay.  The first I have got is the product of the sampling and testing caucus. That is the body that met two days ago, was established three days ago and has produced, I think, some 21 recommendations that are agreed by IANZ, the international experts and the Ministry and the proposition on behalf of the Inquiry Panel is to the extent that the changes agreed can be implemented without delay, and without legislative change, we would request that that proceed without delay.  So that is item 1.  

MR CHUAH:
You would like us to come back and tell you which ones.

JUSTICE STEVENS:
I am coming to that.  Was that on your list?

MS ARAPERE:
That was on my list, Sir.

JUSTICE STEVENS:

Very good.  The second one is the, which we touched on during your evidence, is the Water Safety Plan advances around critical control points and Dr McElnay and Ms Gilbert acknowledged yesterday that it was highly likely that those could be agreed without difficulty.  I know that Dr Deere has offered to assist as has Dr Fricker and that means drafting six to 12 templates to be added to the Water Safety Plans depending on the type of plant and operation of the supplier.  So hopefully any, once they are agreed, any changes that are thought necessary can be communicated to Medical Officers of Health and Drinking Water Assessors without delay.  Was that on your list? 

MS ARAPERE:

Yes Sir.

JUSTICE STEVENS:

Good.  The third item has been covered in the evidence quite extensively was drinking water assessor recruiting and retention and I think that has been well-covered in the evidence and your powers that are there and obviously you will need to get some advice from your officials, we appreciate that, but it is a matter within your both power and control, item 3, okay.

MR GEDYE: 

Sir would you want to mention specifically the health protection officer qualification in that context?

JUSTICE STEVENS:

I do want to.  That was implicit because you covered that specifically, but certainly the panel, Inquiry Panel would from the evidence it has received endorse that move, appreciating that it might be necessary to have a consequential requirement that in the team, in the relevant drinking water team, there would be someone that has the health protection officer functions.  Was that on your list?

MS ARAPERE:

Yes Sir.

JUSTICE STEVENS:

Yes?  Good.  The fourth, I have just put burying the softly, softly approach and more aggressive enforcement and we have talked about that and we appreciate that that is within your powers and you will want to talk to your officials, but just to reiterate that there does seem to be ample confusion at the level of Medical Officer of Health, Medical Officers of Health and Drinking Water Assessors that needs to be clarified.  Tick?

MS ARAPERE:

That is on my list.

JUSTICE STEVENS:

Good.  The fifth is a general proposition.  Mr Gedye put to you the annual report with all those crosses for non-compliant drinking water suppliers, we would hope that the Ministry would now start by taking steps to ensure that those crosses are turned into ticks because the evidence that we have had is that those crosses in some cases have been there for years and years and years, nothing has been done.  Was that on your list?

MS ARAPERE:

Yes.
JUSTICE STEVENS:

The next one was this – and I think I had forgotten the exact number but you will know them, Ms Arapere, because they were in your submissions – the number of statutory amendments that were sought by the Ministry and where approval was granted following the relevant process but not acted upon.

MS ARAPERE:

Yes.  Yes, so those were the ones from 2011 Sir. 

JUSTICE STEVENS:

Correct, correct. 

MS ARAPERE:

Yes.

JUSTICE STEVENS:

Is that on your list?

MS ARAPERE:

It is Sir and finding – providing further information on why the Bill was discharged.

JUSTICE STEVENS:

Well of course, yes.

MS ARAPERE:

Yes, of course.

JUSTICE STEVENS:

But I mean, if there is a current problem then that would be solved by one or more of those amendments, you know, can we get on and get them processed, all right?

MS ARAPERE:

That’s on the list.

JUSTICE STEVENS:

Yes, good.  We are very positive about the concept of an expert advisory panel, so I think we are at one on that.  That was item 7 and my final one was we would welcome – we have to report by the 8th of December and we feel that some time, but not too much time, needs to be allowed, but we would hope that within five weeks real progress could be made and so we’re wondering if you would agree to Dr McElnay reporting back to us by the Friday 22nd of November on the – sorry, September – Friday the 22nd of September on the basis that we can say, “Look, these were discussed with the Director-General, it was these were by and large areas where powers existed.

MR CHUAH: 

And just what we are doing about it.

JUSTICE STEVENS:

Exactly. 

MR CHUAH: 

Yeah.

JUSTICE STEVENS:

How does that sound?

MR CHUAH: 
Excellent idea.

JUSTICE STEVENS:

Good idea?

MR CHUAH:

Excellent.

JUSTICE STEVENS:

And then that helps us to be updated and it may mean that we don’t need to make a recommendation because it is already done and we can note that it has been done.

MR CHUAH: 
Excellent.

JUSTICE STEVENS:

And in this – this is the last point – that if there are recommendations that your officials would like, tell us and tell us why they want them and what we can do then is assess those requests against the evidence that we have received and then if we’re comfortable we could include them and that would help both you as Director-General, Dr McElnay as the Director of Public Health because it seems to me that if you want a change and we endorse that in our report, when it goes through the policy or whatever process, statutory process is required, you have got a leg-up.  Do you see what I mean?

MR CHUAH: 

Can I just clarify that one.  I mean, we will, I mean, certainly I think that talking to the team, I think they are already thinking about some additional things we could be doing so we also will be forthcoming.  On the point around if it actually involves broader policy and Regulation – and statutory change and stuff, I will take some advice around what's the best approach to actually sort of raise there.

JUSTICE STEVENS:

Yes, cool and we appreciate and I think this is important to share with you, because of our work we recognise that there are some matters that could be done straight away, others that will take time.  Like the regulator issue, just to pick a simple example, but where and we might well put some recommendations in an “urgent” list and others in a “as soon as can be managed.”  Now just let me – do you have any more?

MS ARAPERE:

While I don’t wish to add to anybody’s burden Sir, I did have one more and that was Mr Chuah offered to provide further information to the Inquiry on collaboration.

JUSTICE STEVENS:

Yes, that is fine and you might well mention that there was one submission that spoke about a collaboration that was organic in that it happened even before we set up the Joint Working Group because that was really something that came out of Dr Snee’s leadership and was rapidly endorsed by the Inquiry and but there is a very good example, I think in the South Island, of where that is happening as anyway.

MS ARAPERE:
It is, Sir, Canterbury.

JUSTICE STEVENS:
Canterbury, but the thing is, with leadership and guidance and encouragement from your colleagues, it might be possible to get that moving around the country.

MR CHUAH:
Understood.

JUSTICE STEVENS:
That covers it?

MS ARAPERE:
Yes, Sir.

JUSTICE STEVENS:
Now, just let me check with my colleagues.  Mr Gedye, did you have anything?

MR GEDYE:
There's two matters I would suggest, Your Honour, unless you feel they're already incorporated.  The first is what I submit is still an unresolved matter of clarification of responsibilities for laboratories, that being the Hastings District Council and Ministry of Health correspondence.  I cited from Dr Jessamine’s reply, which in my submission leaves a whole lot of unanswered questions about IANZ, the Ministry of Health and how laboratory responsibility should be clarified or dealt with and that seems to me an important matter.

JUSTICE STEVENS:
Tell me what the two are and then I will confer with my colleagues?

MR GEDYE:
The second is similar.  Clarification of accountability of DWAs.  That is the Dr Snee MoH correspondence.  In my submission, that’s not really, that hasn’t been resolved.  So they are two sets of correspondence which I submit need to be followed up on.

JUSTICE STEVENS:
Yes, thank you for that.  We had assumed that it was implicit in the matters that arose today but we agree that it would be extremely helpful to add those two matters to the list and we would like the Ministry to come back with further consideration around, it is really the point about leadership.  Talk to IANZ, make sure that matters are not falling through the cracks, and if there are some recommendations that arise out of that, then we would be delighted to endorse them if appropriate and the same with accountability around Drinking Water Assessors.

MR GEDYE:
Yes, thank you, Sir.

JUSTICE STEVENS:
Yes.  Very good.  

MR GEDYE:
That’s all I have, Your Honour.

JUSTICE STEVENS:
All right.  It remains for me on behalf of the Panel to thank you, Mr Chuah, for coming and what I said at the outset about we appreciate how busy you are, but I think we have made some really good progress today and I hope you feel the same way.

MR CHUAH:
If I can make some remarks?  

JUSTICE STEVENS:
By all means, yes, we would welcome that.

MR CHUAH:
So first of all, thank you very much for having me down here.  I was a bit puzzled when the invitation was extended but now that I'm here, I understand, fully understand why you wanted me to turn up, so thank you for taking that initiative to invite me here.  I'm very pleased to be here and to be free and frank in terms of my replies to the Inquiry and I do want to pass on that anything that’s within my powers under existing regime that can be changed, you will have my undertaking that I will act on it quickly after taking proper advice from my colleagues and my advisors and I'm not philosophical what any particular issue.  My only ambition is to make sure that whatever we change actually needs to make the whole system work better and not just for the parts.  Thank you.

JUSTICE STEVENS:
Thank you very much indeed.  We greatly appreciate that.  You are free to stand down now.

MR CHUAH:
Thank you very much.

JUSTICE STEVENS:
Mr Gedye?

MR GEDYE:
I have no further evidence for today, Sir, and I propose that the Inquiry adjourn until 9 o’clock tomorrow morning, when we will deal with the Panel discussion on clarification and training of water suppliers and that that will be followed by the three chief executive officers giving quite brief evidence, I'd expect, on Joint Working Group update, the drinking water strategy for Hawke’s Bay issues and general issues concerning changes and improvements.

JUSTICE STEVENS:
Thank you.  Ms Arapere, did you have anything else you wanted to add?

MS ARAPERE:
I have nothing further to add, thank you, Sir.

JUSTICE STEVENS:
Thank you.  Just in response to your question that arose before lunch about Dr Jessamine, we appreciate that he is here.  We appreciate that he has come up today.  Insofar as it relates to the correspondence that he was party to, I think there are further developments to occur that make that somewhat unnecessary to deal with today, but secondly, we do think it was extremely important that Dr Jessamine, like Dr McElnay, was here today to hear the discussion and the goodwill that we are trying to engender to make progress.  All right?

MS ARAPERE:
Thank you very much, Sir.

JUSTICE STEVENS:
Anything further?  No.  Thank you.  What time in the morning, 9 o’clock?

MR GEDYE:
9.00 am, Sir.

JUSTICE STEVENS:
Madam Registrar, we will now adjourn until 9.00 am tomorrow.

INQUIRY ADJOURNS:
2.51 pm

